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PROPOSED UNITED STATES-ISRAEL FREE
TRADE AREA

TUESDAY, MAY 22, 1984

HoUSE oF REPRESENTATIVES,
CoMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,
SUBCCMMITTEE ON TRADE,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met at 9:45 a.m., pursuant to notice, in room
1100, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. Sam M. Gibbons
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

[Press releases announcing the hearings and background statis-
tics compiled by the subcommittee follow:]

[Press release No. 39 of Friday. May 11, 1984)

THE HoNORABLE SaAM M. GiBBONS (D., FLA.), CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE,
CoMMITTEE ON WAY3 AND MEANS, U.S. Housg or REPRESENTATIVES, ANNOUNCES
HEARINGS ON PROPOSED UNITED STATES-ISRAEL FREE TRADE AREA

The Honorable Sam M. Gibbons (D., Fla.), Chairman of the Subcommittee on
Trade of the Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, today
announced that the Subcommittee will hold gublic hearings on the pro Us.-
Israel free trade area on Tuesday, May 22, 1984, and, if necessary, on Wednesday,
May 23. The hearings will be held in the main Committee hearing room, 1100 Long-
worth House Office Building, beginning at 9:30 a.m. Witnesses and other interested
persons should be advised, however, that all or rart of this hearing will be subject to
postponement if the Ieﬁslative schedule requires or House and Senate conferees are
re%t:‘ited to meet on H.R. 4170, The Tax Reform Act of 1984.

November 29, 1983, President Reagan and Israeli Prime Minister Shamir
agreed to proceed with bilateral negotiations on a U.S.-Israel free trade area, follow-
ing up an Israeli government original proposa! in 1981. Discussions have been
t:ﬁing place between the two governments since January 1984 on the elements of
an agreement. The ﬁurpose of the hearings will be to receive views on such an ar-
rangement and on H.R. 5377, authorizing the President to enter into, and to pro-
claim modifications in tariff treatment and import restrictions necessary to imple-
ment, a reciprocal and mutually advantageous free trade agreement with Israel.

DETAILS FOR SUBMISSION OF REQUESTS TO BE HEARD

uests to be heard must be made b wle&hone to Harriett Lawler [telephone

(202) 225~3627] by noon, Thursday, May 17, 1984. The request should be followed by

a formal written request addressed to John J. Salmon, Chief Counsel, Committee on

gf?ys and Means, U.S. House of Regresentatives, Room 1102 Longworth House
ice Building, Washington, D.C. 20515.

In view of the limited time available to hear witnesses, the Subcommittee may
not be able to accommodate all requests to be heard. Those persons and organiza-
tions not scheduled for an oral appearance will be encouraged to submit written
statements for the record of the hearing. All persons requesting to be heard, wheth-
er the{l are scheduled for oral testimony or not, will be notified as soon as possible
after the filing deadline.

It is u that persons and organizations having a common position make every
effort to designate one spokesman to represent them in order for the Subcommittee

1)
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to hear as many points of view as possible. Time for oral presentations will be strict-
ly limited with the understanding that a more detailed statemeat may be included
in the printed record of the hearing. This process will afford more time for Members
to question witnesses. In addition, witnesses may be grouped as panelists with strict
time limitations for each panelist.

In order to assure the most productive use of the !1znited amount of time available
for questions, witnesses appearing before the Subcommittee are required to submit
200 copies of their prepared statements to the full Committee office, Room 1102
Longworth House Office Building, at least 24 hours in advance of their scheduled
appearances.

Requests to be heard must contain the following information:

1. The name, full address, and capacity in which the witness will appear, as well
as a telephone number where he or his designated representative may be reached;

2. A lis(il: of any clients or persons, or any organization for whom the witnens ap-
pears; an ‘

3£eA to;:ical outline or summary of the comments and recommendations in the full
statement.

The above information should also be incorporated in the prepared sta'emsnts to
be presented in person as well as those filed for the printed record of the hearing.

WRITTEN STATEMENTS IN LIEU OF PERSONAL APPEARANCE

Persons submitting a written statement in lieu of a personal appearance should
submit at least six (6) copies of their statement, by the close of business Friday, May
25, 1984, to John J. Salmon, Chief Counsel, Committee on Ways and Means, U.S.
House of Representatives, Room 1102 Longworth House Office Building, Washing-
ton, D.C. 20515. If those filing written statements for the record of the printed hear-
ing wish to have their statements distributed to the press and the interested public,
they may provide 100 additional copies for this purpose to the Committee office
before the hearing begins.

[Press release of Monday, May 21, 1984)

TuE HonoRABLE SaM M. GiBeoNs (D., FLA.), CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE,
CoMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS, U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, ANNOUNCES
Rxvisep SCHEDULE FOR HEARINGS ON PROPOSED UNITED STATES-ISRAEL FREE TRADE

The Honorable Sam M. Gibbons (D., Fla.), Chairman of the Subcommittee on
Trade of the Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, today
announced a revised schedule for public hearings on the proposed U.S.-Israel free
trade area (previously announced in Subcommittee press release #39). Due to the
large number of requests to testify and the heavy legislative schedule, the hearings
will be held on Tuesday, May 22, 1984, beginning at 9:45 a.m. in the main Commit-
tee hearing room, 1100 Longworth House Office Building, to receive testimony only
from the following witnesses: :

U.S. Trade Representative: Robert E. Lighthizer, Deputy U.S. Trade Representa-
tive.

U.S. Department of Agriculture: Alan Tracy, Deputy Under Secretary for Interna-
tional Affairs and Commodity Programs.

PANEL

American Israel Public Affairs Committze: Thomas A. Dine, Executive Director.

American-Israel Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Inc.: Lee W, Greenberg, Di-
rector of Trade Policy, National Office, and Executive Vice President, Western
Region; accompanied by Sidney N. Weiss, Trade Counsel.

American Federation of Labor-Congress of Industrial Organizations (AFL-CIO):
Stephen Koplan, Legislative Representative, Department of Legislation.

e hearing originally scheduled for Wednesday, May 23, 1984, is postponed until

the earliest poesible date. Other witnesses who have requested to appear will be
scheduled at that time,



o JRA krk
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-
Total U.S, Imports from Israel $1,162,129
MPN Free 640,731 (55%)
Diamonus (64% of MFN free) (412,036)
GSP Free _ : . 403,478 (35%)
MFN Dutiable 117,919 (10%)
Major Dutiable Products: textiles, footwear, '
jewelry, citrus, cut flowers, chemicals
U.S. Exporcs to Israel )
TQtil.ﬂ;SA_EKEQLIE_IQ_Iiliﬁl. . $1,559,61¢
MFN Free 344,000 (22%)
MFN Dutiable 354,000 {23%)
GSP Understanding 354,000 k23%)
less GSP Understanding '
GATT Boungd . (198,000) (13%)
Total Unbound Imports #%# - 705,000 (45%)

(free and dutiable)

Major dutiable products: motor vehicles, electrical
goods and apparatus, kraftliner, synthetic yarns,
automatic data processing machines, fasteners,
medical apparatus anc controlling instruments

*** Pigures exclude military trade

**% Israel estinates approximately $400,000 in U.S. agricultural
products entered Israel duty free in 1983 through
government purchase
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Chairman GiBBoNs. Good morning. This is a hearing of the Sub-
committee on Trade of the Committee on Ways and Means, and we
are here to talk about a bill that would grant to the President the
authority to negotiate a two-way free trade zcue, or as close to that
as possible, on a reciprocal basis with the State of Israel.

I think it is an important move. I commend Mr. Downey and the
other cosponsors of this bill. I am proud to join them and to help
push this legislation.

If there is any Israel-Arab conflict here, I want to defuse that
right away. I want to tell everyone that I will be happy to intro-
duce a bill that does the same thing for any Arab nation or, in fact,
any other nation that wants to enter into that kind of negotiation
with the United States. v

I think it is a healthy thing and I am ready to get started.

Unfortunately, we have had such a number of requests for
people to testify we have had to limit the number today, and be-
cause of the press of business that has fallen particularly on this
member and I am sure on other members, we have had to postpone
further hearings until sometime in early June. We will get back to
this subject as quickly as we can and hear the rest of the witnesses.

If witnesses do not wish to testify and just wish to put a state-
ment in the record, it will be welcomed. It will be read and it will
be studied.

We welcome all of you here. We want to hear from you. Let’s get
going.

Mr. Downey, would you like to be recognized to make any obser-
vations?

Mr. DownEey. No, Mr. Chairman, I think you have made some
imﬁﬁ‘.ant observations.

is legislation is in the U.S. interests and I think it will help
our good friend and trading partner, Israel, and I hope that the
witnesses address, g;rticularly concern the overriding question of
why we should do this.

Cl::%irman GiBBONS. Mr. Frenzel, do you want to make a state-
ment?

Mr. FrRenzeL. No comment, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiuBoNns. Fine. Let’s get going.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to
present to the——

Chairman GiBBoNS. I didn’t introduce you, so you better intro-
duce yourself, Mr. Lighthizer.

STATEMENT OF HON. ROBERT E. LIGHTHIZER, DEPUTY U.S.
TRADE REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. LicHTis:zER. I apologize for that. .

Chairman GiBBoNs. No, I apologize.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. It comes from being too comfortable here.

I am Robert Lighthizer, Deputy U.S. Trade Representative. With
your permission, I would like to read a brief statement, then have
my longer statement included in the record.

President Reagan and Israeli Prime Minister Shamir agreed last
November to begin discussions toward negotiation of a free trade
area between our two countries. A free trade area is an agreement
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between two or more countries to eliminate tariff and nontariff
barriers on substantially all trade between them. I emphasize the
reference to substantially all trade because of the GATT require-
ment that a free trade area affect virtually all the trade between
the countries involved.

It is historically significant that we embark toward negotiation
on such an agreement. This will be the first such arrangement ne-

otiated in our history and we take this step in anticipation that

S. exports will grow as a result.

The economic benefits that the United States will gain by such
an arrangement are meaningful. An analysis of trade statistics
reveal our exports are substantially more aftected by trade barriers
than Israeli exports to us.

In 1983, we imported $1.3 billion in products from Israel. About
90 &ercent of these imports entered duty-free either because the
MFN tariff rate was zero or the product was under GSP. In con-
trast, 40 to 45 percent of our exports to Israel, $1.7 billion last year,
excluding military shipments, were charged to duty. In 1982, that
duty averaged 10.3 percent.

Our objective is to negotiate elimination of these relatively high
Israeli tariff and nontariff barriers to our exports.

In exchange for elimination of these barriers, we will commit
ourselves to essentially eliminate duties on 10 percent of our im-

rts from Israel and provide secure access on products which

srael currently sells in the U.S. market duty-free under GSP.

Clearly, we stand to gain from such an arrangement.

To negotiate and implement the United States-Israeli free trade
arrangement, the administration pro expanding section 102
authority of the 1974 act. Currently, the President has the author-
{)ty under section 102 to negotiate agreements modifying nontariff

arriers. .

This authority is subject to a congressional approval as well as
advice ‘l‘)(y the International Trade Commission and the private
sector. We propose expanding this authority to allow the President
on a limited basis to seek new opportunities for trade expansion by
negotiating a reduction and elimination of tariff ard nontariff bar-
riers to our exports in a number of countries.

We pr(i;pose using expanded 102 authority for several important
reasons. First, by using 102, the President will be abl= to negotiate
trade liberalizing agreements within the well-known safeguards set
in existing law, especially congressional approval.

Second, using expanded 102 authority rather than authority to
negotinte solely with Israel, will allow us to negotiate with other
countries, Canada, for cne, has made a proposal for such an ar-
rangement, which we currently have under review.

Finally, Israel’s specific authority, rather than broad authority,
will present foreign Folicy problems to the United States. Israel
specific -authority will send a clear signal to Canada and other
cl(;untries that the United States is not prepared to negotiate with
them.

I might add that a majority of the full Ways and Means Commit-
tee members have written to the USTR, urging we negotiate tariff
reductions with foreign governments, other than Israel, on a varie-
ty of products.
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Mr. Chairman, we appreciate the opportunity to present this pro-
posal to you and the subcommittee. Please be assured of our desire
to work closely with you as we negotiate and implement any trade
- agreement under this authority.

. Now I would be happy to respond to any questions.
Chairman GiBsons. Well, thank you.
[The prepared statement follows:]
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STATEMENT OF AMBASSADOR RoBERT E. LicHTHIZER, DEPUTY U.S. TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank the Subcommittee for providing
the opportunity to discuss this important new trade initiative.
President Lsagan and Israeli Prime Minister Shamir agreed on
November 29, 1983, to begin discussions between our two countries
on the establishment of a two-way free trade area between the

United States and Isrzal.

This i{s the first time that the United States has nogogiatcd
an agreement of this type. We do have experience in undcttf;,king
more limited free trade arrangements, such as the one-way free
trade area established by the Caribbean Basin Economic Recovery
Act, and ths free trade agreement with Canada in the automobile
sector., But we have never before attempted an agreement which
fully m:.gg:s the definition of a free trade area in terms of
the scope and the degree of reciprocal acéeu which is contemplated

in our agreement with Israel.

A free trade area (FTA) is formed when two or mure countries
eliminate duties and non-tariff barriers on substantially all

trade between them. Many countries are linked today by such



free trade l-gnnganantl, 2lthough these agreements vary substan-
tially in terms of product coverage, number of participants,
and approack to ntaging of tuziff concessions leading to duty-free

tl“ltlf.:'tt e

The agreement we ~Zontemplate with Israel will differ from
these other free tride areas in that we expect to include services
and investment in addition to traditional trade in goods, Tiis
comprehensive approach will furtbher liberalize our bilateral
relations as well as establish the precedent of including threse

inportant areas in our bilateral and multilateral agreements.

I would like to describe to you in more detail what we
have been discussing with the Government of Israel, the economic
merits of this initiative, and the status of our discussions.
Finally, I have some comments with respect to the type of negotiating
authority the Administration seeks in order to implement this

proposed agreement.

ThesSovernment of Israel proposed the idea of a U.S.-Israel
free trade area in 1981. At that time, interagency work began
on determining the benefits of such a proposal to the United
States. We also initiated informal discussions with the Government
of Egypt to determine their interest in a free trade area.

It was the view of Egyptlan officials that establishment of



a free trade area was not in their economic interest at that

time.

The discussions with Israel on the free trade area were
postponed for several years. However, last year, Israeli officials
again approached us and asked that we reconsider the proposal.
Purther interagency work was undertaken and this fall, with
the concurrence of the Trade Policy Committee, Ambassador Brock
recommended to President Reagan that the U.S. agree to begin

negotiations with Israel on a two-way free trade area.

Evonomic Basis for the U.S,-Igrael Free Trade Area

Total U.S. imports from Israel in 1983 were $1.3 billion,
whiles total U.S. exports to Israel last year (excluding military
shipments) were $1.7 billion. About 90 percent of U.S. imports
from Israel currently enter the U.S. duty-free, either on a
MFN or GSP basis. Major U.S. imports from Israel include cut
diamonds, tomato products, resistors, internal combustion engines,
electrical articles, and high fashion apparel products such

as swimezar.

On the export side, about 40-45 percent of our exports
to Israel are dutiable. 1In 1982, these exports faced Israeli
tariffs averaging about 10.3 percent. However, U.S. products

are increasingly at a competitive disadvantage in the $8 billion
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Israeli market as a result of the E{-Israel Free Trade Agreement.
In the abog;co of a free trade area between the U.S. and Israel,
the tariff differential between Suropean and American goods
would increase rapidly in the next few years as final Israeli
concessions to the EC are phased in., This will be the case
particularly in the industrial sector, where our exports directly
parallel those of the EC. We also believe that our agricultural
exports could increase under an PTA, particularly given the
relatively limited agricultural coverage of the EC-Israel Free
Trade Area. The U.S. now enjoys a trade surplus with Israel
in agricultural products. 1In 1983, our total agricultural exports
to Israel were $297 million, and U.S. imports of agricultural
goods from Israel were $50.5 million. At present, our most
significant exports to Israel include grains, soybeans, kraft
paper, textile fibers, tungsten, engines and engine parts, computers
and other office machinery, electronic and electrical equipment,

and transportation equipment.

In addition to facing high duties on a wide range of products
entering the Israeli market, U.S, firms currently encounter
numerous Israeli non-tariff barriers (e.g., import licensing
requirements and an import deposit scheme)., We believe that
the free trade agreement provides the opportunity to eliminate

many of these barriers.

In sum, the advantage to the U.S. of negotiating a free
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trade area with Israel is that we stand to gain unrestricted
access to aé $8 billion Israeli market in which a high proporticn
of imports are dutiable and in which many non-tariff barriers
exist, in exchange for eliminating duties on esgentially 10
percent of our own imports from Israel and providing secure

access on products currently covered by GSP.

Some people may claim that this still does not look like
a fair deal when one considers Israeli access to our large market.
However, the fact of the matter is that the size of the Israeli
economy effectively limits their ability to take undue advantage
of the U.S. market, The Israeli labor force is limited in size,
and labor costs are significantly higher than in other developing
countries. They undoubtedly will increase their exports to
the U.S. under a free trade area, but they are in no position

to flood our market with low cost, labor intensive products.

It is expected that the U.S.~Israel Free Trade Area would
be somewhat similar to the agreement Israel has with the European
Community, although with considerably expanded coverage. However,
unlike the EC-Israel agreement, the agreement the U.S. would
enter into wouid be consistent with the requirements of Article

XXIV of the GATT.

The GATT permits free trade areas or customs unions as

a deviation from Article I (Most Favored Nation Treatment) under

36-904 O—84——2
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certain conditions. Article XXIV requires that free trade areas
nust be do;igned "to facilitate trade between the constituent
territories and not to raise barriers to the trade of other
contracting parties with such territories.” Further, Article
XXIV stipulates that free trade areas must cover "substantially
all trade" between the parties and must be staged into effect

within a "reasonable” period of time,

Under the terms of the EC-Israel Agreement, imports of
industrial products from Israel were granted duty-free entry
after July 1, 1977, except for certain sensitive products on
which full EC concessions were delayed until December 31, 1979.
_ Israel, for its part, eliminated duties on about 60 percent
of its industrial imports from the EC in five stages by’

January 1, 1980. Duty-free treatment for the remainder of industrial
merchandise was originally scheduled to be staged in by 1985,
with two possible two-year extensions granted to Israel at specific
stages, Israel has asked for both of these extensions and will

eliminate duties on all industrial products by January 1, 1989.

The EC-Israel agreement also includes rather detailed provisions
on safeguards, countervailing duties, antidumping, rules of
origin, national security and consultation and dispute settlement.

Our own agreement would likely contain similar provisions.
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Product Covérage and Private Sector Involvemnt
We have not yet discussed specifics of product coverage
or possible staging of concessions with the Israelis. To date,

we only have agreed in principle that we should strive to satisfy
the GATT criterion of covering "substantially all® trade.

We are being very careful in approaching these negotiations
to ensure that all citizens have ample opportunity to submit
their views on the free trade area concept in general, as well
as on the eligibility of particular products or sectors., The
interagency Trade Policy Staff Committee (TPSC) held public
hearings on the proposal here in Washington on April 12 and
13. 1In conjunction with Ambassador Brock's request to the U.S.
International Trade Commission (USITC) to furnish advice on
the probable economic effects of eliminating duties on all imports
from Israel, the USITC held additional public hearings on April
10 and 11. The USITC will submit its report to USTR later this
month, and it will include advice on all items in the U.S. Tariff
Schedul & We will be happy to discuss the results of the USITC
report with the members of this Subcommittee,

Through the TPSC public hearings, we received testimony
both for and against the free trade area concept as well as

the views of & number of producing interests. A wide range
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of industries were represented at these interagency hearings.
Testimony é; specific product categories, in conjunction with
the USITC advice on all imports, will be reviewed carefully
as we prepare for negotiations on the product coverage of the

prospective U,S.-Israel agreement.

In addjtion, throughout this process, we have sought the
views ot our private sector advisers, including those for services

and investment.

We also welcome Congressional views on the appropriate
elements to be included in the agreement. Our office will be
happy to meet with any members on this isnue and, in fact, already
we have received very useful guidance from several members of
Congress. Needless to say, close consultation with this Subcommittee
and with your colleagues throughout the negotiating process

is essential to the success of the negotiations.

Status of Discussions

We Yegan our formal negotiations on the free trade area
with Israel on January 17 in Washington. This first round of
discussions focused heavily on the overall framewurk of an agreement,
on the kinds of provisions which would have to be included,
and on the manner in which we would proceed with future negotia-

tions. Since then we have had two rounds of discussions, the
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most recent of which took place in Israel last week. As a result
of these dflcullionl. both sides have much closer understandings
of the issues that they must address in order to have a mutually

acceptable agreement.

We believe that our discussions with the Israelis have
progresaed well, and we are cautiously optimistic that we can
achieve agreement within the next few months. As I mentioned
earlier, in accordance with U.S. procedural and legal requirements,
we have avoided to date any negotiations on product coverage
or staging of concessions. We have used the period since January
to discuss the other provisions that will be necessary in the
agreement, such as non-tariff barriers, rules of origin, services

and investment coverage, and safeguards.

Only after we have had sufficient time to review thoroughly
the USITC advice on elimination of U.S. duties, will we initiate
discussions on the product coverage of the agreement. As our
discussions with Israel proceed on this and other aspects of
the agreement in the coming months, our office looks forward

to confefTing with you on a regular basis.

Hegotiating Authority

The Administration proposes that a U.S.-Israel Free Trade

Arrangement be negotiated and implemented under an expanded
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Section 102 authority of the Trade Act of 1974. Currently,
the Prolid;nt has the authority under Section 102 to negotiate
and enter into agreements modifying non-tariff barriers in inter-
national trade subject to Congressional approval and the advice
from the U.S. International Trade Commission (USITC) and the
private sector. The Administration seeks from this Subcommittee
an expansion of that authority to allow the President, on a
limited basis, to seek new opportunities for trade expansion
by negotiating the reduction and elimination of foreign tariffs,

as well as non-tariff barriers.

There are several important reasons for this approach.
First, by tying increased negotiating authority to Section 102,
the President will be able to pursue a prudent course of trade
liberalization, while preserving the well-known and all-important
safeguards set out in that provision of existing law. Notable
among these safeguards is the reguired advice from the USITC,
our private sector advisory committees and the Congress. Most
importantly, no trade agreement could be entered into by the
President until the full Congress has reviewed and approved

the agreement.

Second, the United States Government has been approached
by several governments that have expressed interest in various
forms of "free trade" or trade liberalizing negotiations. Most

notable among these is the proposal made by Canada in August
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1983, In short, the Canadian Government released a comprehensive
review of Canadian trade policy for the 1980's which included
a proposal for limited sectoral free trade arrangements between
the United States and Canada. In Pebruary of this year, Ambassador
Brock met with Canadian Trade Minister Gerald Regan regarding
this proposal. Both Governments agreed at that time to establish
a number of joint working groups to see if the proposal was
desirable and feasible. Specifically, the two govermments agreed
to examine the feasibility of negotiations 1n§olv1ng steel,
informatics, and farm equipment.

While the United States has made no commitment to enter
into negotiations with Canada on these or any other sectors,
we huve informed the Canadians that we will continue to identify
specific sectors of interest to us. We are presently in the
process of soliciting advice and suggestions from the private
sector on both the sectors, under active examination as well
as possible additional sectors which we might propose for Canada‘s
consideration. In this regard, let me say that there has been
considerable interest expressed in our negotiating with Canada
for trade liberalization on furniture, selected forest products,
cosmetics, lawn mowers and snow blowers, alcoholic beverages,
including beer and wine, home appliances, and high technology
items. In fact, a majority of Members of the full Ways and
Means Committee have written to USTR urging us to initiate tariff

negotiations with Canada on several products, most notably furniture.



18

w1thoué the granting «f cariff negotiating authority, our
discussions with Canada may soon be suspended since any foreign
government would be reluctant to propose more formal offers
in the absence of flexible negotiating tools. Purther, the
Trade Act of 1974 conveyed the sense of the Congress that the
United States should enter into a trade agreement with Canada,
and the President was authorized to initiate negotiations to
establish a free trade area with Canada. This Congressional
intent vas emphasized again in the Trade Agreements of 1979
when Congress required the President to study the desirebility
of entering into North American trade agreements. The study,
which included an examination of mutual market opportunities,

was presented to the Ways and Means Committee in 198l.

Third, the implementation of any free trade arrangement
with country such as Israel has important legal implications
with respect to our obligations to third countries. The United
States is party to numerous bilateral treaties of Friendship,
Commerce, and Navigation (FPCN) and other bilztceral agreements
containidy Most Favored Nation (MFN) provisions. Because of
these obligations we must give any other country with which
ve have an FCN Treaty the same benefits granted to Israel under
a U.S.-Israel Free Trade Arrangement. It is obvious that the
Congress and the private sector are céﬂcerned about the possible

unilateral granting of free access to the United States market
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to several FCR Treaty countries as an automatic consequence

of a negotiation with Israel,

We are sympathetic to these concerns, It was for this
reason that the Administration worked with the Senate Finance
Committee on a legislative solution under Section 102 that would:
1) allow the United States the sufficient negotiating flexibility
80 as to respond to our existing treaty obligations, and 2)
provide safeguards for the Congress and the private sector such
that benefits will not be automatically granted to any country

beyond the scope of our negotiations.

Pinally, let me emphasize the foreign policy and trade
policy implications of Congress pursuing a country specific
authority, as opposed to an overall negotiating mandate with
build-in safeguards and checkpoints., At a time when are seeking
both tariff and non-tariff reductions from countries thrsughout
the world oh numerous products, it could be counterproductive
to approve legislation that states the United States Government
is only interested in trade liberalizing negotiating with Israel.
In addition to placing us in an awkward position internationally,
country specific authority will send a very clear signal to
Canada and others that the United States is not prepared in
the near term to discuss or to press for tariff reductions.
At a time when we have within reach opportunities to gain tariff

reductions on a wide variety of products of interest to U.S. manu-
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facturers and exporters, this could be a critical setback to

positive bi‘teul discussions in the future.

USTR and the Administration are open to any suggestions
the Subcommittee may wish to propose as a mutually acceptable
solution to the question of negotiating authority. We have
not and will not propose formal legislative language to grant
broad tariff negotiating authority to the President, but instead
prefer to work with the Members of this Subcommittee on language
that will allay specific concerns, while at the same time provide
the United States Government with a useful, internationally-
acceptable authority. In this regard, I recommend to you for
further study of the Senate bill which would expand the present
Section 102 authority to include tarifts in negotiations with
Israel and Canada at this time, and would leave open the possibility
of such nogotiation‘s with other countries with the consent and

advice of the Ways and Means Committee and the Finance Committee.

In addition, let me remind the Subcommittee that for the
past two yeais, the Administration has sought an extension of
the 1im¥¥ed Presidential tariff negotiating authority under
Section 124 which expired in January 1982, We would welcome
the inclusion of Section 124-type authority in any discussion
of tariff authority, should the Subcommittee choose to consider
such a provision in the broader context of this exercise. While

to some, such a consideration may appear to be far afield from
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the topic of the hearing this morning, I would point out that
wvhat we azogboncoznod with is the negotiated reduction and elimi~
nation of foreign tariffs and non-tariff barriers, be they with
Israel, Canada, or any other nation. The Office of the United
States Trade Representative presently lacks any statutory tariff
negotiating authority. It is the absence of such a tool that
prevents us from negotiating and implementing a U.8.-~Israel
Pree Trade Arrangement, as well as from pursuing tariff reductions
on many products of interest to a majority of the Membirs of
this Committes. In essence, we are precluded from negotiating

advantageous market access for our most co=getitive producers.

Conclusjon

Mr. Chairman, we are pleased to have had this opportunity
to present our proposal for x U.S.-Israel Free Trade Arrangement
to you, and our jideas on “‘his type of authority needed to implement
such an arrangement. Please be assured that USTR expects to
work closely with all Members of this Subcommittee and of the
full Committee each step of the way on this issue., We sgtand
rea’y tg’ieet with you and your constituents, to discuss the
USITC findings and our negotiating posture, and to seek your
advice and assistance. Further, ve would welcome the opportunity
to diacuss specific ways in which Section 102 authority could
be expanded to meet the concerns raised by both the Administration

and the Congress.
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In closing, let me say that the success of our negotiations
with Israel, or with any country, lies in the uegree to which
we work with the Congress and the private sectcr. Under our
proposal, the Congress will review any agreement in detail.
It is therefore to the advantage of all concerned that whatever
is negotiated is undertaken the concerns of this Subcommittee
in mind. Only through such a process vill we be assured that
such a free trade arrangement will be greeted with the necessary

Congressional support to make it a reality.

Chairman GiBBoNns. Before we go to questions, let’s hear from the
Department of Agriculture, Hon. Alan Tracy, Deputy Under Secre-
tary for Internationai Affairs and Commodity Programs.

STATEMENT OF HON. ALAN TRACY, DEPUTY UNDER SECRETARY
FOR INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS AND COMMODITY PROGRAMS,
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. Tracy. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I have a short statement which I would submit for the record
and summarize briefly, if you wish.

We, of course, concur with Ambassador Lighthizer’s statement
that the United "States has reviewed the economic and political
merits of the proposals and determined the United States could
gain substantially from it.

In agriculture, our exports to Israel were valued in calendar year
1983 at about $300 million, which was about six times the value of
our imports in agriculture from Israel. The exports were mostly
grains and soybeans; imports were mainly horticultural products,
especially processed tomato products.

ith regard to the trade impact on U.S. agriculture, it would
seem that the most significant growth area would be i1 processed
products, especially if current licensing rsstrictions on sch prod-
ucts are removed. .

On the import side, the strongest Israeli export potential is in
the horticultural area. Aside from processed tomato products, we
have imports from Israel of some other products, such as fresh and
processed citrus, olives, and cut flowers that could increase in the
absence of customs tariffs.

It is important to note, though, that increased pressure on the
use of land and water resources in Israel will act as a constraint on
agricultura! production expansion in that their agricultural pro-
duction area has been declining recently.

The administration recognizes that some products are more sen-
sitive to trade liberalization than others and formation of the free
trade area must take this into account.

In the free produce market, for instance, when large supplies are
available in a given market at a given time, the demand curve be-
comes very inelastic and very small additional amounts can
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become price depressing. With this in mind, the President has
asked the ITC to examine these products and advise us of the effect
on U.S. producers and consumers of duty-free treatment for im-
ports from Israel.

When this information is available, we will be in a better posi-
tion to decide on product coverage and specific tariff treatment for
individual products.

We are concerned about the impact, the possibility of a need for
special relief provisions for perishable products, and are looking at
the possibility of a fast-track provision such as the one in the Car-
ibbean Basin Initiative. Any decision on this awaits our receipt of
the U.S. Internat’onal Trade Commission advice.

We are also concerned about ensuring that we have effective
rules of origin. We do have such rules already in place for GSP and
for the CB! statute. The GSP rules have been in place for some
time and have apparently worked fairly well.

Finally, with regard to the concern about Israeli export subsidies,
we believe a free trade area should be based on the principle of
comparative advantage and not on the ability of a country to subsi-
dize exports.

The benefit, of duty elimination should not acrrue to subsidized
exports. This will be carefully considered in the terms of the final
agreement.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement follows:]
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STATEMENT OF ALAN T. TrRACY, DEPUTY UNDER SECRETARY, INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS
AND CommoDITY PROGRAMS, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, I appreciate the opportunity
to discuss agricultural aspects of the proposed two-way free trade area with
Israel.

Tte United States has reviewed the economic and political merits of the
proposal and has determined that the U.S. could gain substantially from it.
Most of the benefit will accrue to industrial products where dutiable
products constitute a higher percentage of the total.

In calendar year 1983, U.S. agricultural exports to Israel were valued
at nearly $300 million, about six times the value of U.S. agricultural
imports from that country. The exports consist mostly of grains and
soybeans, while imports are camprised mainly of horticultural products,
rarticularly processed tomato products. ‘

Both the United States ard Israel intend to have the free trade
agreement cover as many products as possible in accordance with the GATT
stipulation of a free-trade-area. However, negotiat'ions of specific product
coverage must await advice by the U.S. International Trade Commission, which
is duve to be released soon. Both the Trade Commission and the interagency
Trade Policy Staff Committee, chaired by the U.S. Trade Representative, held
public hearings on this subject in April.

With regard to its trade impact on U.S. agriculture, it appears that the
free trade area would provide a significant growth potential for U.S. exports
of value-aided products, such as processed grain products, if present
licensing reu.rictions ca such products are removed. In the case of tcbacco
and tobacco products, the U.S. position in the Israeli market would further

strengthen upon the removal of import duties.
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On the import side under the FTA, the strongest Israeli export
potential -is in the horticultural area. ides the processed tomato
products that I mentioned, Israeli exports to the U.S. of some other
products, such as fresh and processed citrus, olives, avocados and cut
flowers could increase in the absence of customs tariffs.

However, it is important to note that increasing pressure on use of
land and water resources in Israel will act as a constraint on expansion
of agricultural production.

The Mministration recognizes that some products are more sensitive
to trade liberalization than others and that the formation of the FTA must
take this into account. In the fresh produce market, for instance, when
large supplies are available, the demand curve becomes very inelastic and
small additional amounts can be very price depressing.

With this in mind, the President has directed the U.S. International
Trade Cormission to examine each U.S. tariff item and provide advice on
the probable economic effect on U.S. producers and consumers of duty-free
treatment for imports from Israel. When this information is available, we
will be in a position to decide on produc‘;: coverage and specific tariff
treatment for individual products.

Also, after rece.ipt of the USITC advice, the Administration will be
in a better position to assess the need for a special relief provision for
perishable products. A mechanism such as the "fast track" provision
included in the Caribbean Basin Initiative statute, I believe, would
provide domestic horticultural growers with timely leqal redress from a
possible surge of perishable product imports from Israel under the FTA.

If a need is indicated in the "Juiit civice, we will work to develop a

saitable provision in the FTA agreement.
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In addition, effective rules-of-origin, similar to those included in
the GSP legislation and the CBI statute, would be utilized in the FTA to
prevent transshipments of non-Israeli products to the U.S. market.

Finally, with regard to the often raised concern over Israeli export
subsidies, we believe that a free trade area should be baged on the
principle of comparative advantage rather than on the ability of a country
to subeidize its exports. The benefits of duty elimination should not
accrue to subsidized exports. This will be carefully considered in the
terms of the final agreement.

That concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman. I will be glad to respond

to questions.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I would say to both of you that I don’t expect
you to negotiate anything that would tear down our laws that I
generally describe as keeping the playing field level, the laws
against subsidies, the laws against dlt)1mping essentially. Nor do I
want you to do anything that gives any country a distinct advar-
tage in what are the basic areas.

This is a reduction of tariffs and any nontariff barriers that we
have, but I don’t include the counterveiling duty laws and dumpir.g
laws as being nontariff barrier laws. Those are basic laws designed
to keep the trade free and open.

Subsidized trade, as I have said so often, is not free trade. It is
the worst kind of Government intervention in the marketplace.

So I don’t want to see you all attempting to negotiate any of
those away.

Of course, what I hope you will have and I know you will have is
a reciprocal reduction in barriers aiming toward a zero balance of
artificial barriers to our trade.

You mentioned, Mr. Tracy, a study by the International Trade
Commission on some agricultural products. When will that be
available?

Mr. Tracy. I don’t know. They did hold hearings in April and
also 1l;)he trade policy staff committee has held hearings on this sub-
ject, but——

Chairman GiBBONS. Tell them not to drag their feet.

Mr. LicuTHIZER. The end of this month, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBsoNns. That may be soon enough.

Mr. Lighthizer, you mentioned the most-favored-nation treatics
we have with other countries. I don’t see that as a barrier to th's
negotiation.

is is a legislative act that supersedes those treaties, and as I
have said here in the beginning, if any other nations want to nego-
tiate like this, all they have to do is let Congress know or let you
know and you will let the Congress know that they are ready to
negotiate.

I don’t want us to get hung up on most favored nation. We
have enough hangups on that around the world already.
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Most favored nation now almost means least favored action. I
don’t want most favored nation to become a barrier to progress.

Do you have the manpower, both of your agencies, to begin the
negotiations rapidly on this?

Mr. LigHTHIZER. Yes, Mr. Chairman, we do.

Chairman GiBeoNS. And the expertise?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. Yes, Mr. Chairman, we do.

Chairman GiBBONS. Let’s negotiate then.

Mr. Downey.

Mr. DowNEY. Mr. Chairman, thank you.

Ambassador Lighthizer, did the administration oppose what the
Senate Finance Committee did on the free trade zone for Israel and
one for Canada?

Mr. LicaTHIZER. No, Mr. Downey, we supported that.

Mr. DowNEY. May I just ask, does the administration oppose this
legislation? It doesn’t say so here.

Mr. LicaTHIZER. We much prefer and support the Senate legisla-
tion for a number of reasons.

Chairman GieeoNs. Why don’t you tell me what they are.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. The primary reason is that we would prefer to
have broader authority than just authority for Israel.

As I indicated, we have had expressions of interest from Canada,
and indeed I might say on that note that during the last two major
trade bills that the Congress has passed, there have been requests
that we either study or begin negotiations of such arrangements
with Canada.

There is a great deal of congressional interest and has been for
some time.

We also think that the Senate formulation, if I could briefly sum-
marize it, accomplishes the same objectives you want to accomplish
but does it in a way that is far better for us. That is, it says that
we can negotiate these kinds of agreements with any country, but
before we can begin negotiations we have to submit the fact that
they even want to start negotiating to this committee and to the
Senate Finance Committee and if either committee objects, we
can’t negotiate with them and use the fast track.

This means that the door, as the chairman indicated, really is
open for every country but at the same time we are not automati-
cally giving anything to any other country and we are allowing
this committee and the Senate Finance Committee, each independ-
ently, to determine if we should negotiate and use the fast track.

There is a broader application here and yet I think it is allowing
us to accomplish the objectives that you desire and that we desire,
that is, to see a free trade arrangement with Israel.

Mr. DowNEY. Can I ask you, in that last description, where you
would come back to the committees for further approval of negoti-
apin§ authority—how does that wash with the Supreme Court deci-
sion?

Do you think that might have some problem, be construed as a
congressional veto of an executive action?

Mr. LigHTHIZER. We really don’t think so, Mr. Downey. We think
that coming back to this committee, coming back to the Senate Fi-
nance Committee, and asking for permission to start negotiating—

36-904 0—84—3
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which just triggers our ability to use the fast track—is not incon-
sistent with the Supreme Court decision.

Indeed, it provides a valuable safeguard.

Mr. DowNEY. In all fairness, Mr. Ambassador, isn't this a lot
faster track?

It says, go ahead and do it rather than waiting to come back and
forth to determine whether or not they are or are not bargaining
in good faith. There is no substantive disagreement with what we
are trying to do here; it is a matter of process that you are con-
cerned about. :

Is that a correct characterization of the administration’s objec-
tions to the bill?

Mr. LIGHTHIZER. It is more than a question of process. Your bill
is limited just to Israel. We really would like to negotiate or see if
it is in the interests of the United States to conclude an agreement
with Canada in addition.

We would also substantively like to have the option open of
being able to explore such agreements with other people if this
committee and the Senate Finance Committee think it is in our
economic interest to do so.

So I think there probably are some substantive differences.

Mr. DownNEy. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBONs. Mr. Frenzel.

Mr. FrenzeL. Mr. Chairman, Mr. Schulze has to leave and I
wonder if I could yield to him.

Chairman GiBBoNSs. Sure. Go ahead.

Mr. ScHuLzk. I thank the gentleman for yielding.

Gentlemen, can you bring me up to date on Israel’s similar
agreement with the EC and how that is working out, and whether
there are any problems?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. It is hard for us to say where there are prob-
lems. The Israelis and the European Community entered into an
agreement in 1575, It provided for phasing in over a period of
about 4 years on the side of the Community and over a period of 10
years with a couple of possible extensions on the side of Israel. If
zilsl)lsgxtensions are used, it will be completely phased in for Israel in

Mr. Scrurze. I understand some extensions were requested but I
don’t know why. Can you give me details on that? Why and in
what areas?

Mr. LigHTHIZER. It is my understanding that there was a request
for extensions because of Israel’s economic situation. It wanted to
use the latitude provided in the agreement to extend the amount of
time that it had to grant duty-free access.

I might add, also, this is a more limited agreement than what we
propose here and our position is that the Israeli-EC agreement is
not consistent with the provisions of the GATT, whereas the kind
of agreement we are talking about clearly is.

Chairman GiBBONS. Is or is not?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. We think ours is.

Chairman GiBBONS. I agree. I think it is, too. I looked at the
GATT. This is the kind of thing the GATT was set up to promote.

Mr. LigHTHIZER. | agree with that, Mr. Chairman.
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Mr. Scuurzr. How does the administration feel about exemp-
tions, for instance, on cut flowers or tomatoes or jewelry or some
?thex'; problems which have the potential for creating great prob-
ems?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. We are against the granting statutorily of any
exceptions from the agreement. Right now, the Israelis can bring
into the United States 90 percent of-their trade duty free. If we
start eliminating that last 10 percent, the benefits for Israel dry up
very quickly.

We would prefer-to review what the ITC has to say and consult
with your constituents and other Members and try to deal with the
problems through staging-in and in other ways to alleviate any
particular problems.

Mr. ScHuLze. They are gaining 10 percent; is that correct? You
say 90 percent are coming in duty free?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. They are gaining 10 percent; that is correct.

Mr. ScHurze. Why is it to their advantage to even consider this?
What is the difference?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. There really are two advantages. One is that it
is important for them to have duty-free access for that 10 percent;
the other is that they will have the advantage then of binding the
GSP portion that comes in duty free, which is not bound now since
GSP is an annual unilateral grant by the United States.

Mr. ScHuLzE. Does Israel provide any subsidies now to its indus-
tries which would violate our trade laws?

Mr. LiguTHiZER. Yes; they clearly do have some subsidies.

Mr. ScHuLze. Will they be eliminated before the agreement is ne-
gotiated or will they be carved out as exemptions? Or how would
that work?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. We are in the process of talking to them about
that, because we have not really started any specific negotiations,
at least product-specific negotiations. That is a matter of concern to
us.

In any event, I would say, as the chairman said, that the purpose
of this agreement would not be to usurp the role of our unfair
trade laws in any event. They would still be subject to our counter-
veiling duty laws in that case.

Mr. ScHuLze. But we shouldn’t go into an agreement which we
know will violate any of those laws; isn’t that correct?

We should try, in whatever country we deal with, to eliminate
those before we enter such an agreement.

Mr. LicutHizER. That is something we are talking io them about.
But there is nothing in this agreement that will in any way violate
our unfair trade laws.

Mr. ScHuLzE. In what way will a free trade area improve our tre-
mendous problem, balance of payments problem?

Mr. LigHTHIZER. We believe that a free trade arrangement with
Israel—indeed one carefully crafted with Canada, too—will have
the effect of opening up substantial markets for our exports. About
45 percent of our exports to Israel, for example, are subject to an
average duty of about 10 percent; and the elimination of that duty
will have the effect of making American producers more competi-
tive.
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In addition, it is important that we have this agreement because
the already referred to Israeli-EC agreement is being phased in;
therefore, over a period of time, the Community’s products, many
of which compete with ours, are becoming more competitive than
ours, because they have a lower duty. So it is important. We clear-
ly believe it is in our economic interests to enter into such an
agreement.

Under the proposal administration favors—you would have an
opportunity to look back on that when we submit the legislation.

r. ScHULzE. Do you have any problems with a dollar limitation
on the imbalance so that we could make sure that it doesn’t get too
far out of line? '

Mr. LicHTHIZER. In the first place, we have a surplus with Israel.
But we believe that the limitations on their economy are such that
it is very unlikely that they are going to be able to come in here
and take advanta%:e of our markets in the way that some other
larger country might be able to do so. :

Mr. ScruLzk. I thank you, gentlemen.

I thank the gentleman from Minnesoia for yielding, but time is
running out and I have many more questions.

Chairman GieeoNs. If you have good questions, we have lots of
time. We will be happy to hear them.

Mr. Pease. .

Mr. Peasg. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Lighthizer, you mentioned in your testimony that the size of
the Israeli market is $8 billion.

Do you have a comparable figure for the size of the U.S. market?

Mr. LicuTHiZER. The $8 billion figure was the amount of imports
they have right now.

Our comparable figure would be $270 billion.

Mr. Peasg. $270 billion, OK.

Would the establishment of a free trade zone be likely to open up
for export the Israelis’ new product lines that are not now competi-
tive in the U.S. market?

P Mr. LicutHiZER. We believe that that is clearly a possibility, Mr.
ease.

Mr. PEASE. So when we say that 90 percent of their products now
come in duty free, and 10 percent come in at dl::i', the free trade
zone would essentially expand the universe of products that the Is-
raelis could send in; is that correct?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. Yes.

I don’t want to be coy, but they could send in more than they are
sending in now, of course, and they don’t send it for a variety of
competitive reasons.

Mr. Pease. Well, you mentioned in your testimony that Israel
proposed the establishment of a free trade zone in 1981 and again
in 1983. It appears from your testimony that we have more to gain
than the Israelis do from this arrangement.

I have never known the Israelis to act against their own national
interest. Why is it that they are eager to do this? Will there be a
commercial advantage from their point of view greater than our
advantage?

Mr. LigurHizer. I don’t believe that there is a greater competi-
tive advantage for them in our market than for us in their market,
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but this is a tradeoff and these are economic judgments that one
has to make. They are getting access for a small number of prod-
ucts in a bigger market. We are getting access for more products in
a smaller market, and we are going {o have a greater reduction in
the duty.

It is hard really to make an assessment of who benefits more
than the other. I suspect that in this kind of an arrangement we
can both benefit in that the losers tend to be the third countries. In
other words, they won'’t displace American workers; in many cases,
they will displace imfports from other sources. The same is true of
us; we will displace, for example, imports in their market from the
Eurcpean Community.

So I don’t think that you can make the assumpti_n that one does
better than the other. It is in both of our economic interests. And
the fact is, it will probably be third parties that will have less as a
result of this arrangement.

Mr. Pease. Well, free trade is a good unto itself, whether or not
anybody gains or loses. I think that is the prevailing philosophy.

ut have fyou talked with the Israelis or have you tried to ana-
lyze yourself why it is that they are so eager to have a free trade
zone? They must figure there is some advantage to them to do so.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Without a doubt, they think it is in their selfish
economic interests, just as we think it is in our selfish economic in-
terests to do the same. They want to bind the GSP duties at zero.
They want an increase of access in our market. They want to have
the stability of knowing that regardless of the changing GSP pro-
gram, that they will be able to bring in certain products and plan
and develop customers. Very definitely it is in their economic inter-
est.

Mr. Peask. Is my impression correct that Israel has substantial
balance-of-payments problems?

Mr. LIGHTHIZER. Yes.

Mr. PeasE. Presumably, they would not want to do anything to
exacerbate those balance-of-payments problems.

Does that mean there is a judgment on their part that in terms
of the export-import relationship between the United States and
Israel, that they are likely to gain more from this arrangement
than we are?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. In the first %lace, this whole balance-of-pay-
ments problem is something that has to be negotiated in the agree-
ment, and traditionally has been addressed in these arrangements.
iI‘here will be something to deal with the balance-of-payments prob-

em.

But I don’t think it is fair to say that everything that one side
wins, the other side loses. I don’t think it is a zero-sum game.

The fact is, it can be a big benefit for Israel and for us, at the
same time. In fact, other suppliers will tend to be the losers—not
the United States, not Israel.

I don’t think they are entering into this arrangement because
they think it is to our disadvantage. I think they are committed,
like we are, to the fact that it is really in both of our interests. If it
isn’t—if the final package is not in our interests—I trust that the
Ways and Means Committee, and particularly the Trade Subcom-
mittee, will stop it.
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Mr. PEase. Well, the very best arrangements of all are those that
benefit both parties. Right now, we have a slight benefit in our
trading relationship with Israel of $300 million in our favor, rough-

What would you say if such a free trade arranfement were nego-
tiated? What would you guess the situation would be 5 years after
the completion of that negotiation, or 10 years after? Will we still
have an advantage, or not’

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. | do not know M~ Pease, in all honesty. Our
sense is that we probably would stili have an advantage, but we
really haven’t calculated those figures.

From our point of view—this is really a pretty good example of
it—you have to look at multilateral trade balances rather than bi-
lateral balances. If what we believe is true—that is, that we will be
supplanting other suppliers to Israel, and they will be su&planting
other suppliers to us—you would have to see what effect that
would have on dealings with our countries before you could tell
whether or not it had—in other words, it might just hypothetical-
ly—it may help us in the balance with the European Community,
or ASEAN countries, or anyone else.

We want to subject this to the judgment of the committee when
it is completed. But we believe the net of this is a gain for the
United States—more markets for our products. That is the only
reason we enter these negotiations.

Mr. PEase. Will you submit to the subcommittee your calcula-
tions which show how it will benefit the United States?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. We will do an analysis of that, yes, Mr. Pease.

[The information follows:]

The analysis requested by Congressman Pease has been undertaken by the CIA at
the request of this office. We anticipate that the report will be completed within one
month of the time of printing. At that time, the report will be transmitted to the

Subcommittee for inclusion in the file for the hearing on the U.S.-Israel Free Trade
Arrangement.

Mr. Pease. This proposal is to give you autherity to negotiate a
free trade agreement.

What happens after you have negotianted it? Is there any congres-
sional approval required?

Mr. LigHTHIZER. There are two differen. proposals. One is the

roposal introduced by Mr. Downey, which 1z the subject of this
earing, and it is my understanding under that hill the authority,
it is self-implementing.

The Senate took a slightly different tact, and one the adninistra-
tion prefers, although it gets to Mr. Downey’s objective, that is to
say a free trade arrangement with Israel. Under the Senate provi-
sion, we use what is called section 102 fast-track procedures. In
that case, what happens is we complete the arrangement; we come
back to the committee and to the Senate Finance Committee, and
as we Lave in the past—this is the procedure we have used man
times, inciading the big trade bill of 1979—we would come in wit
what would be a private markup and sit down and go through the
arrangement with the members of this committee and with (ne
members of the Senate Finance Committee.

When that process is completed—assuming also that we have
gone through other steps, which is to say the ITC and private
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sector review—we would then go back and submit a bill to the com-
mittee, which then could not be amended; it would have to be
passed on a short timeframe up or down. That is the procedure in
the Senate.

In Mr. Downey’s bill, as I understand, we would go out and nego-
tiate a self-implementing arrangement.

Mr. Pease. Mr. Downey would like me to yield.

Mr. DownNEy. Thank you, Mr. Pease.

Ambassador Lighthizer, would you have your counsel do a memo-
randum of law on the difference between your approach and why
you think legally it is not in conflict with Chadha?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. Yes, sir.

[The information follows:]

OFFICE OF THE U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE,
ExecuTiVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT,
Washington, DC, June 25, 198}.
Memorandum to: Subcommittee on Trade, Committee on Ways and Means, House of
Representatives.
From: Claud Gingrich, General Counsel.
Subject: The Chadha Decision and the Proposed Expansion of Section 102 of the
Trade Act of 1974.

ISSUE

This memorandum has been prepared in response to a request from Rep. Thomas
Downey for a legal opinion from the General Counsel’s Office of the Office of the
United States Trade Representative on whether a proposed bill of the Senate's Com-
mittee on Finance amending Section 102 of the Trade Act of 1974, 19 U.S.C. 2112,
would be consistent with the decision of the U.S. Supreme Court in LN.S. v.
Chadha, 103 S. Ct. 2764 (1983).

CONCLUSION

It is our opinion that the proposed Senate bill expanding Section 102 of the Trade
ACtb?f 1974 is not inconsistent with the Chadha decision and poses no Constitutional
problems.

INTRODUCTION

On May 9, 1984 the Senate Finance Committee approved, in concept, legislation
which would provide for, among other things, the expansion of the President’s cur-
rent authority under Section 102 of the Trade Act of 1974. This expanded authority
was proposed, and is supported by the Administration, for the purpose of allowing
the President to enter into negotiations with Israel and Canada providing for the
reduction or elimination of duties as well as nontariff barriers and to seek approval
of implemr:ntation legislation on all asi)‘ects of the pro agreements through the
use of the “fast track” procedures of the Senate and House rules set out in Section
151 of the Trade Act of 1974.

At the present time the President has the authority under Section 102 to seek
expedited implementation of any trade agreement he enters into to modify or elimi-
nate nontariff barriers in international trade, through the use of the Section 151
“fast track” procedure. On tariff items the President currently has his inherent au-
thority to negotiate a trade ment and then seek Congressional implementation
authority through normal legislative procedures. The proposed expansion of the Sec-
tion 102 authority would enable the President to use the expedited Cor;gressional
approval procedures of Section 151 for tariff items as well as for nontariff barriers.
It is intended that by granting the President the ability to use the “fact track’ pro-
cedures for both types of trade barriers, he will have the flexibility to negotiate a
comprehensive trade agreement with Israel and Canada, covering a wide range of
ge ucts and impediments to trade, and thus secure for the United States the most

neficial arrangement possible.

In addition to enabling the President to receive “fast track” consideration for
trade agreements he enters into with Israel and Canada, the Senate bill 2'so pro-
vides that agreements with other nations may, under certain circumstances, be
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similarly submitted to Congress for expedited review. A ~otential Constitutional
question relating to the recent. Supreme Court decision, ZN.S. v. Chadha, 103 S. Ct.
2764 (1983), arises in this context.

PROCEDURAL LIMITATION ON USE OF “FAST TRACK”

The Senate proposed legislation is primarily aimed at enabling the President to
negotiate and enter into trade agreements with Israel, to establish a Free Trade
Area, and with Canada, to enter to sectoral free trade arrangements, similar to the
U.S.-Canada automotive pact. However, the Senate bill will be drafted to enable the
President to extend his negotiations to other nations (and receive the expedited ap-
proval of Section 151 for the appropriate implementation legislation), if certain pro-
cedures are followed. The purpose of this is to give the President the flexibility to
seek new opportunities for trade liberalization in the future, if the experience with
Israel and Canada warrant ic¢, and to establish a mechanism to enable the United
States to consider the extension of concessions made to Israel and Canada to those
nations with whom the U.S. has treaties of Friendship, Commerce and Navigation,
providing for unconditional Most-Favored-Nation rights.

The géocedure envisaged in the Senate bill would work as follows: the President
would be able to enter into trade negotiations relating to the elimination or reduc-
tion of a duty with any country if (1) such country requests the negotiation and (2)
the President consults with the Committee on Finance of the Senate and Commit-
tee on Ways and Means of the House of Representatives 60 days prior to the date
notice of his intention to enter such trade agreement is published in the Federal
Register as required by subsection (eX1) of Section 102.

The Senate and House rules of Section 151 providing for expedited consideration
of implementation legislation would not apply to agreements entered into with
countries other than Israel and Canada and providing for the elir:ination or reduc-
tion of duties, unless the requirements described in the preceding paragraph are
met and, within the 60 days period, the Committee on Fiuance of the Senate or the
Committee on Ways and Means of the House of Representatives rloes not disapprove
of the negotiation of the agreement.

In effect, unless the President follows the procedures laid out in the legislation, he
is prohibited from submitting any trade agreement he negotiates with any country
other than Israel and Canada for expedited consideration by the Congress using Sec-
tion 151 “fast track” procedures. The question that arises for consideration here is
whether the procedural requirement that if either the Finance or Ways and Means
Committee disapprove the negotiation the President is barred from “fast track” K’ro-
cedure constitutes a “legislative veto” which may not be employed in light of IN.S.
v. Chadha, 103 S. Ct. 2764 (1983).

THE CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE

The Supreme Court’s decision in LN.S. v. Chadha, handed down on June 23, 1983,
related to an appeal under the Immigration and Nationality Act which provided for
a one House legislative veto of an administrative decision by the Attorney-General
suspending deportation of a native of Kenya from the United States. The Court, in a
T-2 decision, ruled on the constitutionality of the legislative veto itself, a legal
mechanism which had been employed since the Hoover Administration in an effort
by the Congress to maintain its oversight over delegated functions and was now in-
corporated in some 200 federal statutes.

The effect of the Court’s holding in Chadha is sweeping, ruling on all applications
of the legislative veto. The decision requires a co :ideration of whether any Con-
gressional action is legislative in character or is “in conformity with the expressed
procedures of the Constitution’s prescription for legislative action: passage by a ma-
Jority of both Houses and presentment to the President.! ”

In determining whether the Chadha decision would proscribe the proposed com-
mittee disapproval procedures which will be contained in the Senate bill, it is neces-
sary to determine what the Court would class’fy as a “legislative act.” In attempt-
ing to define this concept the Court states: “W'hether actions taken by either House
are, in law and fact, an exercise of legislative power deﬁnds not on their form but
upon whether they contain matter which is properly to be regarded as legislative in
its character and effect . . .” 103 S. Ct. 2764, 2784.

In the case of Chadha, which involved a one House veto of the Attorney-General’s
determination that Chadha might remain in the United States, the Court concluded

L LN.S. v. Chadha 103 S. Ct. 2764 (1983), 2787.
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that the House had taken action which had “the purpose and effect of altering the
legal rights, duties and relations of persons .. .. all outside the legislative
branch.” 102 S, Ct. 2764, 2784. The Court went on to obeerve that “absent House
action, Chadha would remain in the United States. Congress has acted and its
action has altered Chadha's status.” Id, 2785.

Applying this determination to the proposed Senate bill leads to a conclusion that
no legislative act, as described in Chadha, would be present in an exercise of the
iwo Committee disapproval procedure which is contemplated. Key to Chief Justice
Burger’s definition of a legislative act is that the one House veto in the Chadna case
had the purpose and effect of altering the legal rights, duties and relations of per-
sons outside the legislative branch. In the proposed legislation, the disapproval of
either House would have none of these effects.

The matter at issue here is whether or not the President may, when seeking im-
plementation authority for a bilateral agreement (other than with Israel and
Canada), have access to the expedited approval procedures of the Senate and House
rules set out in Section 151 of the Trade Act of 1974,

As provided for by currznt legislation, the President does not have unlimited
access to these procedures in any event. By statute, he can only seek expedited con-
sideration of trade agreemonts which provide for the modification or elimination of
nontariff barriers. Even for agreements affecting nontariff barriers he can only re-
ceive expedited Congressional review if he follows specific procedural requirements.?
The Senate bill merely adds additional procedural requirements for the President to
meet in order to have access to the “fast track” procedure, including having a spe-
cial consultation period with the Finance and Ways and Means Committees for
agreements which include the modification or elimination of duties, and an opportu-
nity for either committee to object to the treatment of a particulary agreement in
this expedited Thanner.

Chadha restricts the alteration of legal rights, duties and relations of persons out-
side the legislative branch by the action of the Congress without observing the bi-
cameral and presentment requirements of Article L. In this case an indication of dis-
approval by either Committee would not have this effect. The active disapproval of
the Committees in this context would not be a legislative act as it would not affect
the legal status of the bill which the President would be submitting to Co . All
it would mean is that bill could not receive “fast track’” consideration. The Presi-
dent would still be free to submit the legislation for Congressional review. No more
would be altered by the Committee’s disapproval than if the President elsewhere
failed in meeting the procedural requirements set out in the extant statute.?

Despite this proposal’s appearance of embodyini a legislative veto b! a single
Committee, it not proscribed by the meaning of the Supreme Court’s decision in
Chadha. In that case the Court objected to a legislative act of Congress, taken with-
out reference to the strictures of Article I of the Constitution which affected the
rights and duties of individuals outside the legislative branch. In the Senate propos-
al, the possible disapproval of either of the two Committees is not a legislative act,
as it merely determines wheth;r;‘ﬁanicular legislation will have access to special
Senate and House rules for expedited consideration, or will be considered in the
normal legislative process.

Mr. Pease. Under your fast-track proposal then, which is in the
Senate bill—is that correct?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. Yes, sir. .

Mr. PEAsE [continuing). Congress would have to enact a law ap-
proving the arrangement that you negotiated; is that correct?

2These procedures, set out in Section 102, 131-135 of the Trade Act of 1974, require that, in
order to use the “fast track” procedures, the President must:

Consult with both the Senate Committee on Finance and the House Committee on Ways and
Means, and with each committee of the House and the Senate and each joint committee of the
Congtrtszv?x)i)t:h has jurisdiction over legislation which would be aff by such trade agree-
ment. c

Notify both Houses of Congress ninety days before entering agreement and promptly thereaf-
ter publish notice in the Federal Register intention to enter agreement. 102 (eX1)

Publish in the Federal Register and supply to ITC lists of all articles whose duties might be
modified (131 (a))

k information and advice from various agencies (132)

Arrange for public hearings (133 (a)) and receive hearing summary (133 (b))

Seek guidance from private sector advisors (135)

3 Deacribed in previous note.
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Mr. LigHTHIZER. Yes, sir. It would be under a short timeframe
and without ameriddment, but that is correct.

Mr. Pease. ¥t ‘would have to come to a vote within 90 days?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. That is correct.

Mr. PEask. OK, fine.

USTR has sought for a long time to get renewal of section 124
nﬁgotiating authority, and Congress has not seen {it to approve
that.

How docs what you are doing here in relation to Israel, but also
with relation to other nations, compare with section 124? Are you
trying to get 124 authority through the backdoor here?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. No; I don’t think that is a fair characterization,
Mr. Pease.

We actually have, and continue to support, the extension of sec-
tion 124 authority. We would like to have the authority—and hope-
fully this committee will consider that at the appropriate time—to
respond to requests of the members of the committee, and Mem-
bers of the House and Senate, who want us to negotiate minor
tariff reductions on behalf of their constiluents We get dozens of
letiers like that every week, and typicady—I am sure you have
gotten these—we say we will try to help but we 2cu’t have the au-
thority to negotiate those self-executing de:!c. These are different
authorities. .

We are stili very inierested in having 124 authority, and we
think it is in our interest as well as the Congress.

Mr. PeASE. Thank you very much.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Mr. Frenzel.

Mr. FrenzeL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you, Ambassador Lighthizer and Secretary Tracy. We ap-
preciate your testimony.

I wznt to get into the 102 authority and get back to the question
Mr. Pease vaised of what is in it for both sides. I am not sure he
asked the right question. I think there is more in it for Israel than
was elicited as a result of his querPy.

For one thing, under your GSP bill, should it be passed, Israel
would graduate some of its products; is that not true?

Mr, LicaTHIZER. If our %iil passed, some of their products would
bz graduated and Israel would be in a position to try to seek a new
level of beneiits.

Mr. FRENZEL. Ts it also true they have asked for GSP on certain
icultural products? And here I really make a point for Mr.
omas, who s miot bere. Incidentally, it is not my point.

My point is. { :appen to be very strongly in favor of the bill, and
even more strongly in favor of the Senate version. But Mr. Thomas
tells me that there are products for which Israel has asked GSP
{reatment and we have turned them down, which under this bill of
course would be incorvorated at zer., duty.

Mr. Tracy can probably talk to that point since the products are
aq*:'icultura{.

‘ Mr. Tracy. I understand that that is correct. They have asked
or——

Mr. FRENZEL. It applies to black olives and some other——

Mr. Tracy. Citrus categories.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Olives and tomatoes, I am told.
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Mr. "RENZEL. What Israel gets is a fail-safe position should GSP
falter. [hey get 10 percent more than they get from GSP. They get
an additional market that it cannot now approach. It gets stuff
that might be graduated and stuff that is not now accepted for
GSP, which I think is a nice package for Israel.

As I understand from your discussion, what the United States
geis is the 40 percent of our exports or more that are now subject
to duty in Israel, and a relatively unrestricted or almost unrestrict
ed shot at the total Israeli import market, which is particularly im-
portant to us because we are now in a competitive disadvantage
against the European Comrnunity because of the European Com-
munity’s existing agreement. with Israel. ’

Is that correct?

Mr. LicHTHIZER That is precisely correct.

Mr. FRENZEL. Our shot is mostly at manufactured goods?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. L~rgely manufactured goods.

Mr. FreNzEL. I think I am seeing what the problems are and
what the benefits may be, and my judgment is that the benefits to
the United States are important, and the benefits to Israel are im-
porvant.

* agree with our chairman and with you, Mr. Ambassador—that
is not & .ero sum game. Every time there is a transaction in the
marketplace, somebody buys and somebody sells, it is at least theo-
retically in a relatively free market a transaction that helps both
sides, and that sometimes we will be plus and sometimes we will be
minus in our trade balances. But, in general, the trade is going to
be helpful to both countries.

I take it that is the basis under which you are negotiating?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. Yes, s°.

Mr. FrenzeL. Well, if t) -t is roughly the advantage to both sides,
which I think is important and ought to be sustained, can you tell
me what sectors you heard complaints from in your hearings of
April 12 z.ad 13 in the interagency group, besides agriculture?

Mr. Tracy, while he is looking that up, maybe you can tell me,
are the complaints from agriculture mostly specialty crops?

Mr. Tracy. Yes; aside from the ones I specifically mentioned in
the testimony, we have also had concerns from growers nf pimen-
tos, artichokes, producer. of dried garlic, dried onions, peppers——

Mr. FRENZEL. Raisins?

Mr. Tracv. No.

Mr. FRENZEL. Al™onds?

Mr. TrAcy. I don't think almonds, either.

Mr. FReENZEL. Tomatoes primarily?

Mr. TrAcy. Tomatoes, I mentioned twice in the testimony, yes.

Mr. FRENZEL. Are tomatoes that are a cause for concern proc-
essed tomato products? That is not fresh product?

Mr. TRAC V=s; it is canned tomatoes, tomato paste, and tomato
sauce.

Mr. FRENLFL. Mr. Schulze mentioned cut flowers.

Mr, Tracy. Yes.

Mr. “reNzZEL. Those are fresh-cut flowers we are talking about?

Mi. Jracy. Yes; I think ; montioned cut flowers and olives and
avocados.
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Mr. FRENzEL. Those are subject to GSP—i. that correct?—right
now, the flowers anyway?

Mr. TrAcy. Other than roses, yes.

Mr. FrenzeL. Thank you.

Mr. Lighthizer, did you have some other sectors?

Mr. LicutHizeR. The only ones I would add, Mr. Frenzel, that we
heard from nonagricultural sectors, were gold jewelry, bromine
products——

Mr. FRENzEL. I missed the second one.

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. Bromine products.

Mr. FreENzEL. Spell it for me.

Mr. Li1GHTHIZER. B-r-o-m-i-n-e.

Mr. FRENzEL. What kind of products are bromine?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. It is a chemical that is produced in the United
States largely in the Arkansas area here, as I understand it, and
there has been some expression of interest.

Mr. Frenzer. Thank you very much.

Mr. DownEy. Will the gentleman yield?

YM]:. FrRENZzEL. I yield to the distinguished gentleman from New
ork.

Mr. DowNEY. To be clear on the bromine, if the other products
came in duty free, there would be a need for more bromine.
[Laughter.]

Mr. FrenzeL. I thank the gentleman for the dubious contribution
to the high level discussion we have going here.

May we discuss the 102 authority? What is the differerce in the
Hou se bill from the Senate bill? As I understand it, there are sev-
eral distinctions of which the main one is that tha Senate bill pro-
vides that we arm you with the authority to 3o negotiate with
Israel and you will nego.i.te the best way yoi: ian, presumably,
perhaps with some phase-ins of sens;rsive [ .cmo--uithough, I prefer
not to con you as to which ones you had to do.

You would then come back and discuss with us making a fast-
track bill, and it would be passeC—have to be passed—by the Con-
gress under existing procedures. It is - two-step process then.

Mr. LicurHIZER. That is correct.

Mr. FrENnzEL. It seems to me it protects the Congress and prob-
ably protests the United States and Israel, too, because it then calls
for a douole kind of ratification, and we have a little better idea of
exactly what the deal is, and so do they, rather than just sending
you out to negotiate something.

Also, the Senate language empowers you to do this elsewhere if
you can get away with it; is that correct?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. It empowers us to do this elsewhere if this com-
mittee and the Senate Finance Committee agree we should do it
elsewhere.

Mr. FreNze!. First, the committee has to tell you it is now appro-
pric.te for you to negotiate something if you can?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Correct.

Mr. FRENzEL. After you have been told to do that Iy the commit-
tee, then you still have to come back and get congressional approv-
al, fuil approval of both Houses under the fast-track provision?

Mr. {iIGHTHIZER. Yes.
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Mr. FRENZEL. In the meantime, our discussions with Canada—be-
cause they relate to free trade on a sectoral basis—would not be
covered by this 102 authority unless we decided to go full bore on
that; is that correct?

Mr. LicuTHIZER. No, sir, under the Senate bill, we would be au-
thorized to conduct negotiations with both Israel and Conada.

Mr. FRENZEL. On a sectoral free trade basis?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Sectoral with Canada, yes, sir.

Mr. FreNzEL. Is that compatible with the GATT, do you judge?

Mr. LicuTHIZER. It may be necessary for us to get a waiver of the
GATT, as we did in the auto pact.

Mr. FreEnzeL. I think what the Senate is doing seems to offer
some not only additional possibilities but additional safeguards. It
looks like an interesting proposal.

I thank you for your testimony. And I know Mr. Thomas, who
has an abiding interest in sorie of these agricultural products, will
want to be consulting inicrmally with both of you.

Thank you.

Chairman GiBBONS. Let me just talk about the Canadian request
that you make, because over the years in the auspices of the
United States-Canadian interparliamentary group I have talked
with the Canadians about this matter. I learned years ago that it
was far better from the Canadian point of view in their own domes-
t%:: politics if they brought up the issue rather than me bringing up
the issue.

I won’t go into a whole lot of detail there, but based on my expe-
rience—and they recognize, too, that because of the size of the
United States, if we propose something, it looks like we are press-
ing them or trying to take advantage of them. Both the Canadians
and those of us who have dealt with the Canadians in that inter-

arliamentary exchange, have come to the conclusion that it is far

tter if the Canadians move affirmatively first rather than us

trying to move in that way and make ourselves available to negoti-
ate.

So I have let it be k..own to the Canadian authorities that they
are the ones that we dance with and not us making the proposal to
dance. So I would prefer not to put any other countries in this bill
at this time.

Now, my committee may overwhelm me on that, but I would
hope provisions of the Dowriey bill can be maintained and that we
can start out here with a new thrust, starting out with a friend;
and even if anything goes wrong—sud I don’t think anything will
go wrong—it will not severely injure the United States or any in-
dustry in this country. Perhzps if we deal with more and more
people, we will learn by experience.

So, for two reasons—one, I think for Canadian concerns I would
rather let them make the first move. I do not detect they have
made the first move. They have talked informally with you about
some sectoral negotiations, but they have not signified that they
are willing to go to full-fledged negotiations as this legislation envi-
sions.

I am afraid by us put.'ng it forwaid, we will cool their ardor, if
t}}:ey have any for negotia.ions. That has been my experience with
them.
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I had the pleasure and the privilege in the learning experience of
having dealt with them now for about 14 years in one way or an-
oﬁher, either through NATO or through our interparliamentary ex-
change.

I would prefer to leave the Downey bill alone there.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. May I comment on that, Mr. Chairman?

Chairman GiBBoNs. Yes, sir.

Mr. LiguTHIZER. | suspect that all your contacts have had some
impact on them, because it is our strong feeling—to use your analo-
gy—the Canadians have invited us to this dance.

Chairman GiBsons. OK.

Mr. LicatHiZER. They had a study of their trade situation that
came out at the end of last summer. The result of the blue ribbon
panel was the suggestion that they approach the United States and
ask us to negotiate on a sectoral basis free trade arrangements. I
am told some among the blue ribbon panel favored going the whole
way and having a free trade area; others did not. This was viewed
from their side as a compromise.

It is something their government feels strongly about and is
pushing it hard on us.

Chairman Giseons. If they want to dance, I am wiiling to dance.
But if they just want to talk, I think I will wait.

Mr. LiguTHIZER. | think they want to dance.

Chairman GisBoNs. Well, you tell them my address and they can
(ciome by and visit us and tell me they want to dance, and we can

ance.

I made the mistake of suggesting this to them and almost got my
head shot off. I learned from that experience.

Any other members with questions?

Mr. Thomas, glad to have you here. Mr. Thomas is not a member
of our committee, but I have invited him and I invite every other
member of the Ways and Means Committee, or other Members of
Congress, to come on in and talk about this.

We are glad to have you, Mr. Thomas.

Mr. THoMmas. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I apologize to the administration representatives for my not
being here for their testimony. If I ask you any questions that were
covered already, just let me know.

When we talk about potential of an increased trade relationship
with the free trade area between the United States and Israel, with
the possibility, Mr. Lighthizer, that you indicated, that you believe
their agricultural exports could increase under an FTA, specifically
what products of agriculture, and where would the increase occur?

Mr. Tracy. Mr. Thomas, we mentioned briefly we t* -1ght some
processed grain products, possibly tobacco, could bene.t directly.
But I think it is worth noting that our primary exports to Israel
are in the grains, whole grains snd soybean area—some $300 mil-
lion; it is fairly substantial.

Of course, we would hope there would be potential for increases
there as Israel developed, and we would hope this arrangement——

Mr. THoMAS. So you are talking about soybeans, tobacco, proc-
essed grains.
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What might be the downside of the free trade area with Israel in
the agricultural area? Can you name any, as you named in terms
of the upside?

Mr. Tracy. What I did was name those which—where we have
heard from the industries considering that their products are sensi-
tive.

Mr. THomAs. How many items?

Mr. Tracy. We have quite a list—tomato products, of course;
citruls and citrus products; and a number of lesser, mostly horticul-
tural.

Mr. THoMAS. Lesser? What do you mean by lesser?

Mr. Tracy. In terms of the size of the industry here in the
United States.

Mr. THoMAS. In terms of the size of the industry in the United
States? What about the impact to particular areas of the United
States? Is it lesser in terms of the damage that a free trade area
might create with those particular crops?

Mr. Tracy. No; I only mentivned in terms of the size of the in-
dustry. Citrus, of course, is a big industry in the United States.

Mr. Tuomas. How many specific items do you have? Thirty
items, maybe?

Mr. Tracy. We have a couple of things. We do have a letter from
ou, sir, which I believe lists at least that many items. We have
eard from others of a more limited list of about a dozen.

Mr. Tuomas. In your approach, you look at the nationwide pic-
ture, and if we can pick up another $100 million—even though per-
haps you don't realize that almonds alone in trade with the EC, for
example, are a quarter-billion dollars—if you add up the actual
dollar amounts on this long list, the dollar amounts add up rapidly.

The significance is when you examine the specialty itcms, you
find out that they are grown principally in one or two States and
principally in very few congressional districts. And is it the judg-
ment of the Department of Agriculture and USTR then that it is
all right to sacrifice the economic base of a particular area as long
as the United States overall benefits? Is that the approach?

Mr. Tracy. Well, Congressman Thomas, what we have stated in’
cur testimony is that we are very aware of the sensitive nature of
some cf these items, and we feel that this needs to be taken into
account as we approach the negotiations.

I, of course, have been very unwilling to try to tie up Ambassa-
dor Lighthizer so that he is limited in his negotiating ability when
he enters the actual negotiations.

Mr. THoMmAs. What do you mean by consider? Are we talkin
about creating a free trade area as free as the EC has with Israel’
If that is what we are creating, I don’t have many concerns since,
as you know, 80 percent of the agricultural products are excluded
in that relationship. .

Are we going beyond that? What is the intention?

Mr. LicuTHIZER. We are talking about going beyond that, Con-
gressman.

Mr. THoMAs. What does “‘going beyond that” mean?

Mr. LicuTHiZzER. We would propose to include all of these prod-
ucts, at least at the beginning of the negotiation, and try to deal
with the sensitivity issues through ataging-in of the arrangement.
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Mr. THomas. Tell me where you start. I am sure you have an
idea. For example, Israel has come to request GSP on a number of
items. I think our most recent battle was over black olives. They
were denied. As a matter of fact, they came back twice and they
were denied twice.

Is this an item that would be automatically excluded under this,
or are our folks going to have to fight the battle again about get-
ting black olives excluded from a FTA? What criteria are you talk-
ing about using in terms of excluding agricultural products that
clearly are sensitive and that we have had questions over recently?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Rather than excluding, Congressman, we would
prefer to deal with the sensitive products through staging-in.

To answer your question specifically, because scmething is not
qualified for GSP does not mean it will be eliminated from these
negotiations.

Mr. THomas. The administration is currently trying to renew
GSP. They have provided changes within the renewal proposal
which would provide for graduation of garticular nations if they
don’t meet the real purposes for which GSP was established.

Clearly Israel is one of the leading candidates for graduation. If
the administration’s proposal had any chance of passing based on a
realistic response to the need in terms of the way Congress sees
that need, Israel would have lost its GSP preference on a number
of agricultural products by virtue of graduation under the adminis-
tration’s own proposal.

You are telling me now that all those items are up for re-discus-
sion under a FTA proposal that the administration offers. Why, on
the one hand, does the administration say that these agricultural
commodities I represent are going to be finding relief because we
will graduate Israel under GSP if you adopt our proposal, and then
you turn around and tell me there is no basis for any kind of un-
derstanding going into the FTA about those products that are on
the GSP list we have already won? .

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Let me make two points in response to that.

In the first case, GSP is a unilateral grant by the United States.
It is not reciprocal.

Mr. THoMas. I understand that.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. In the second case, countries such as Israel who
would be graduated would have the right to seek a higher level of
benefits.

Mr. TroMas. I will make the question a little blunter, then.

What is there that I can take back to my people that would give
them some feeling of satisfaction that this administration, this
President from California, understands the sensitivity of specialty
agriculture and is not giving away the American market to Israel?

Mr. LicurHizer. I will ask the Agriculture Department to re-
spond in terms generally of what the administration’s views are on
specialty agriculture. But I think the procedure the administration
favors in this case, Congressman, which is to.submit this bill
through a very complicated ﬁrocedure back through the Congress,
in which case Members will have an opportunity to vote against it
and indeed to urge us to review the negotiations so as to provide an
additional amount of assurance to your constituency.
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Mr. THoMmas. ] aﬂpreciate the fact I can vote against the meas-
ure. I didn’t come here to vote against anything. I didn't want to
op the administration.

want to put together a compromise that no one is damaged by.
I appreciate your telling me I can vote against it; that is my choice.
I would appreciate openness in terms of willingness to sit down and
discuss a list of agricultural products.

What about pistachios? For example, Israel exported pistachios
to the United States and they show no indication of growing pis-
tachios. One of the concerns voiced to me by a number of growers
is what assurances they have Israel will not be a transshipment
and minor processing point for the North African pistachio?

Do we have an indication that that will be discussed, or do I have
a choice of voting “No” on the bill?

Mr. Tracy. Mr. Thomas, we did discuss that earlier.

Mr. THoMAS. And can you give me a quick response?

Mr. Tracy. Just that we would expect to include a provision on
futlps of origin that would be modeled after the CBI and GSP legis-
ation.

Mr. THomas. What about crops currently not produced in Israel
and produced in significant numbers in the United States—or are
we going to create an incentive for Israel to go after markets that
currently are not available to them?

What about the ibility of Israel then moving products? Be-
cause, as we know, Spain and Portugal, the assumption is they will
assun'lnf a position in the EC and they raise Mediterranean products
as well.

Is there any concern about movement of products currently
%oing to the EC but because of a change in the makeup of the EC,

srael is looking for a place to send them and it is going to be a
convenient arrangement to have a free trade area between Israel
and the United States to move the crops into the United States? Is
there any understanding or guarantee that this won’t occur?

Mr. Tracy. Yes; there is concern about this issue.

One point also brou‘fht up before is that we are not in a position
at this point to decide on specific product coverage and specific
tariff treatment for individual products.

Mr. THoMmAs. To what extent do the people who raise these prod-
ucts and have real concerns about the potential for Israel in terms
of moving products around—and I appreciate your indication that
you are going to be clever enough to be able to determine whether
it is transshipment or whether there is a minor processing going
on, although I think you will find you have had difficulty doing
that in a number of other areas—I am looking for some kind of in-
dication that the people who are going to be directly affected prob-
ably most significantly in a negative way in this FTA have an op-
portunity to try to present a factual case other than me going back
and telling them “I was told by this administration, my adminis-
tration, that my choice was to vote ‘no’ on the bill,” that that is the
prerogative I have.

Is there any indication at all we are going to have an opportuni-
ty to sit down and try to present some figures to you?

Mr. LicuTHizER. Congressman, if I gave you the impression in re-
sponse——

36-804 O—84—4
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Mr. THoMaAs. You didn’t give me an impression; you said that.

Mr. LicHTHIZER. All I was saying is you could oppose our propos-
al. Let me assure you that is not the only opportunity you have to
express your views.

e have had hearings at ITC, USTR, interagency hearings, we
have had an obligation under 102 clearly stated in the statute to
consult with our nrivate sector people as well as with the Congress.

The procedure it set up to develop a dialog extensively. It has
been done to some extent so far. If we are granted this authority
and 102 becomes applicable, there is a very detailed procedure that
has time frames and requires the kind of congressional consulta-
tion and private sector consultation which is described in the stat-
ute and which we have used in the past, most recently in the major
trade bill in 1979. So there is ample opportunity for input.

Members of the Ways and Means Committee will actually have a
markup of the legislation, which is a very unusual procedure.

It is in the nature of a markup where they sit and go through
the implementing legislation and the administrative practices line
by line and suggest changes. At the end of that 90 days, the bill is
then submitted to the full House on a fast track, for a vote up or
down en it.

Mr. THoMas. To what extent does the administration see this as
a blueprint for use in other bilateral relationships between the
United States and other countries? Is it important to get it right
this time in case this is a kind of an approach that the United
States wants to use?

Does the United States want to use this?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. We feel —

Mr. THomas. With other nations?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. Pardon me. We feel that it has advantages in
the case of Israel and advantages on a sectoral basis in the case of
Canada, and with respect to other countries, we would propose to
study them, seek the advice of Congress, and see if it is in our eco-
nomic interests.

Mr. THoMAs. What about Mexico?

Mr. LicuTHizER. There is no proposal do to that with Mexico.

Mr. THoMAS. Brazil?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. No proposal there.

Mr. THomAs. Chile?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. There has been no proposal to do such an ar-
rangement with Chile.

Mr. THoMAs. If you examine it would you examine the Israeli-
United States free trade area as a guideline?

Mr. LiIGHTHIZER. Yes, sir.

Mr. THoMas. Do you understand why we are so concerned that
we make sure that in this initial process rather than simply having
an opportunity to vote “No,” that we try to have some inputs so
that it is done in a way in which we won’t have some future battles
that will get a whole lot more difficult?

Mr. LIGHTHIZER. Yes, sir.

Mr. THoMmAs. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Conable, do you have any questions.
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Mr. CoNaABLE. No; Mr. Chairman, I don't.

Chairman GiBBONS. Any other members have questions of the ad-
ministration?

Mr. Schulze.

Mr. ScHuLzE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBeoNSs. Don’t leave, Mr. Thomas, we are glad to
have you here.

Mr. THoMas. I will sit in the back row for a while since I am not
on the subcommittee.

Chairman GiBBoNns. No; you come up to the front pew.

Mr. THoMAS. I'm fine.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Mr. Schulze.

Mr. ScHurze. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Gentlemen, is this an excuse for the administration to have
broad negotiating authority to reduce tariffs and with the idea that
most Members of Congress, of course, feel very sympathetic toward
the State of Israel, and as a consequence, would support this legis-
lation so you have an opportunity to do things here without our
direct general oversight?

Mr. LicurHizeR. No; I don't believe it is, Congressman.

Mr. ScHurze. Then you would have no objection to it being very
narrowly drawn?

Mr. LicutHiZER. Our proposal is to amend section 102 and to pro-
vide that we have the sort of oversight, cooperation, and consulta-
:;iion with the Congress which we expect to follow during this proce-

ure.

Mr. ScHurze. When I had to leave before, we had just started
talking about subsidies. Has Israel signed the subsidies code?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. No; they have not.

Mr. ScHULZE. Any reasons for that?

Mr. LicarHIzER. We have just not been able to come to agree-
ment with them, Congressman. The focus——

Mr. ScauLzke. It is not necessarily just with us.

Mr. LicHtHIZER. No; but in terms of our talks with them, the
tﬁlk? l:lave centered on the nature of subsidies and phaseouts and
the like.

Mr. ScHuLzE. You wouldn’t mind if the legislation was crafted so
that subsidies code—or the agreement was an integral part of the
legislation?

Mr. LicutHiZER. We, Congressman, believe that the better ap-
proach is to have us include in the agreement with Israel, certain
restrictions with respect to subsidies and that is part of the negoti-
ations and the input of this committee will be important in the
process.

Mr. ScauLzE. If you could tell us what they were before we legis-
lated, we would have no problem with it.

Mr. LicHtHiZER. Under this procedure that we propose, Congress-
man, we would do precisely that. We would come back and during
the 90-day period, go over those details with you and give you an
opportunity to, on a line-by-line basis, make alterations before we
ask the committee or the Congress to vote on the legislation imple-
menting the agreement.
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Mr. ScHuLzE. In effect you are free to negotiate right now. You
are .j)ust not free to conclude negotiations or agreement, is that cor-
rect?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. No; not precisely. The Constitution gives the
President the right to negotiate. What we are—and the only thing
we are asking for in this legislation is the right, after we conclude
an agreement subject to these rules and regulations, to come back
and use the so-called fast-track procedure.

Mr. Scuurze. This is the same fast-track procedure we used on
the Tokyo round?

Mr. LiGHTHIZER. Yes, sir.

Mr. ScHuLze. I would like to shift now to specific products and
problems.

How could we solve some of those problems, for instance, cut
flowers, roses, jewelry, tomatoes, how wculd you recommend they
be solved?

Mr. LicHTHIZER. We would propose, Congressman, to deal with
them through staging in of the agreement. In many cases, there
are limitations on the extent to which Israel can really come into
this market and take advantage of it.

In the case of cut flowers, with the exception of roses, they have
GSP duty-free access right now. In many other products, they are
in a position where they are a small country with very high wage
rates and with certain natural resource handicaps that are not
going to allow them to come in and flood this market.

Mr. ScHuLzE. Mr. Ambassador, that is true but you know and I
know that everybody, every nation that appears before this com-
mittee and every Third World country says our percentage of your
market is only one-ha)f of 1 percent or 1.2 percent or two-tenths of
1 percent, and we would look like the big old mean ogre if we are
going to do anything to restrict that poor individual country, but
by the time you accumulate all of this, it has a dramatic impact on
the work force in this country. We not only must, it is our job to
take that into consideration.

I believe you are going to put some restrictions in this legislation
if we are going to get enough broad support to get it through. We
may all think this recession is over and everything is hunky-dory,
but the recession has left an indelible impression on the workers
and the people of this country and we are not going to see these
jobs and our economy just thrown away by a trade agreement here
and a trade agreement there.

I do not intend to try to block this legislation, but I think if you
don’t or are not willing to negotiate some very meaningful restric-
tions, you are going to have a hard time getting this legislation
through. v

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Further questions?

If not, thank you very much.

Our next witnesses are the American Israel Public Affairs Com-
mittee, Dr. Thomas A. Dine, executive director; and the American-
Israel Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Inc., Lee W. Greenberg,
director of trade policy of the national office and vice president of
the welstern region, accompanied by Mr. Sidney N. Weiss, trade
counsel.
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Let me repeat again, while the witnesses are taking their seats,
this is not the concluding hearing on this matter. I had planned to
hear many more witnesses today and tomerrow, but because of he
press of legislative business in my own schedule I can’t sit in on
these hearings. I would like to hear all of them, so I will ask the
witnesges who want to testify to be available right after the district
work period that ends in early June.

Also, I will probably be a member of the tax conference and that
may mean we will have to have these hearings early in the morn-
ing or late in the evening in order for me to be present. Perhaps
some other member could chair them if I will not be present.

We welcome you, gentlemen. And who proceeds first? Mr. Dine.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS A. DINE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, AMERI-
CAN ISRAEL rPUBLIC AFFAIRS COMMITTEE, ACCOMPANIED BY
ESTER KURZ, DEPUTY DIRECTOR OF LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS

Mr. DiNE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GieBoNs. You may read your statement, make it any
way you want or we will put it in the record for you.

Mr. DINE. I am Thomas Dine, executive director of the American
Israel Public Affairs Committee. I would appreciate it if my whole
statement could be submitted for the record.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Without objection, we wi&l put it in the
record any place you designate.

Mr. DiNE. Thank you. I am pleased to have the opportunity to
appear before the House Ways and Means Subcommittee on Trade
to express AIPAC’s position regarding the establishment of a free
trade area between the United States and Israel.

I want to commend you, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Vander Jagt and
5M31%.7 Frenzel and particularly Mr. Downey for introducing H.R.

The American Israel Public Affairs Committee [AIPAC] is a do-
mestic lobbying organization concerned with U.S. foreign policy, es-
pecially as it relates to the United States-Israel relationstiip.

On AIPAC'’s executive committee sit the presidents of 38 major
American Jewish organizations representing more than 4% million
members throughout the United States.

Recognizing that mutually advantageous commercial relations
between Israel and the United States are important for both na-
tions for economic as well as political and strategic reasons, AIPAC
strongly supports the establishment of a free trade area between
the two nations and the legislation required to negotiate and imple-

ment an FTA.

*  Ibelieve that the elimination of tariff and .ontariff barriers on a
broad array of products and services traded will, in the medium
and long term, increase the two-way flow of trade and investment
in a way that will strengthen the economies of both nations.

Moreover, because of Tsrael’s small size and limited production
capacity relative to the United States, there is little reason to fear
ma’ligr effects from increased Israeli imports into the United States.

e proposed free trade area is therefore a two-way gain—both
countries will reap benefits from the agreement. It would be both
good trade policy and sound foreign policy for the United States. It
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would also be a meaningful step to vard solidifying the unique rela-
tionship between our two democra‘ . nations.

Israel shares with the United States a heritage of democratic tra-
ditions and Judeo-Christian values, and is a member of the family
of free nations. Its democratic character is rootad in the principle
that Government derives its legitimate power from the people, who
express themselves through open elections, unfettered freedom of
speech, free trade unions, a robust free press, and other rights pro-
tected by an independent judiciary.

Israel is one of the great success stories of the democratic experi-
ence in the modern world. In addition, poll after poll has shown
that Americans have felt a special affinity for Israel since its birth
as a nation in 1948. That support has also been reflected in Con-
gress which has been consistent in its moral, economic and military
support for Israel throughout the years.

Israel is, additionally, a country of considerable strategic impox-
tance to the United States and the West. Its critical location at the
anchor of the Mediterranean basin and in the heart of the Middle
East, the fighting strength of its armed forces, and its commitment
to prevent the Soviet Union and Soviet-allied forces from becoming
the dominant powers in the region, make Israel a strategic ally of
great value in this critical part of the ‘world. A strong Israel is in
America’s best interests.

But Israel’s strength and free institutions depend as much on the
health of their economic foundations as they do on their military.
These economic foundations are, as you well know, under great
stress.

Israel is staggering under the burden of financing its defense,
trying to maintain a military balance vis-a-vis a coalition of adver-
saries who have almost as many aircraft and tanks as NATO.

Since 1973, several of the Arab League states have enjoyed an
enormous infusion of wealth generated ny inflated oil prices, and
%hey lhave devoted a great share of this to amassing arms against

srael.

Israel is forced to devote over a third of its resources to defense—
compared to 6 percent in the United States and 1 percent in Japan.
As a result, Israel’s debt burden reached $28 billion in 1983—more
than 1its entire GNP.

Israel is also currently struggling against . spiral of high infla-
tion which could reach 400 percent based on the past few months.
Over the long term, moving toward a more open trading system
should help Israel in its battle against both of those problems.

One unique factor that imposes a great strain on the Israeli econ-
omy is the refusal of its neighbors to engage ir normal trade.
Beyond denying their own markets, the Arabs have employed the
economic boycott and petro-pressures to close mary Third World
markets to the Jewish State.

As a result, Israel, which is dependent on imports and exports,
has been forced to concentrate largely on the markets which
remain open in Europe and North America. The Common Market
countries and the United States are the lifelines of Israel’s econom-
ic existence, and thus fluctuations in the import duties and policies
of these markets reverberate throughout the Israeli economy.




49

In a country where almost 50 percent of the gross national prod-
uct is exported, where imports are equivalent to over 60 percent of
GNP, and where there is a scarcity of land and natural resources,
it makes good economic sense to throw down the trade barriers and
let the markets function freely, rather than go down the well-trod-

en path of protectionism.

A free-trade area with the United States would greatly help in

his regard by providing a stable and dependable market for Isra-
el's exports, free from the uncertainties of the present generalized
system of preferences [GSP].

Furthermore, a free trade area that provides for the elimination
of tariff and nontariff barriers on a broad array of goods and serv-
ices will, in the medium and long term, increase the flow of trade
and investment in a way that will strengthen the economies of
both nations. It is important to remember that, unlike GSP or the
CBI, this would be a wholly reciprocal arrangement, or as you men-
tloned earlier, Mr. Chairman, zero barriers.

I want to go to my conclusion.

Establishment of a free trade area is a step the United States
can take to help Israel while helping the United States. Both coun-
tries will reap benefits from the arrangement. It will be good for
the American economy, strengthen a vital ally in the Middle East,
and reaffirm the bonds between ourselves and a fellow democracy.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement follows:]
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StaTEMENT OF THCMAS A. DINE, EXECUTIVE DIRFCTOR, AMEFICAN ISRAEL PuBLIC

AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

1 am pletsed to have the opportunity today to appear before the
House Ways and Means Subcommittee on Trade tu express AIPAC's position
regarding the establishment of a Free Trade Area between the United

States a.d Israel.

The American Isracl Public Affairs Committee (AIPAC) is a domestic
lobby 1ng organization concerned with U.S. foreign policy, especially
as it relates to the U.S.-Israel relationship. On AIPAC's Executive
Committee sit the presidents of 38 major American Jewish organizations
representing more than four and a half million members throughout

the United States,

Recognizing that mutually advai.ageous commercial relations betuwcen
Israel and the United States are important to both nations for economic
as well as political and strategic reasons, AIPAC strongly supports the
establishment of a Free Trade Area between the two nations and the
legislation required to negotiate and implement an FTA. I lLelieve
that the elimination of tariff and non-tariff barriers on a bro:t - ray
of products and services traded will, in the medium and long-ter.,
increase the two-way flow of trade a.d investment in a way that ~i1ll

trength-n the economies of both nations. Moreover, because or israel's
small size and limited production capacity relative to the U,S., there
is little reasun to fear major erfects from increased Israeli imports
into the U.S. The proposed Free Trade Area is therefore a two-way
gain--both countries will reap benefits from the agreement. It would

be both good trade policy and sound foreign policy for the U.S. It

~

would also be a meaningful step towards solidifying the unique relationship

betwesn our two democratic nations.
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ssrael shares with the U.S. a heritage of democratic traditions
and Judso-Christian values, and is a member of the family of free
nations. Its democratic character is rooted in the principle that
government derives its legitimate power from the people, who express
themselves through open elections, unfettered freedom of speech, free
trade unions, a 12bust free press, and other rights protected by an
independent judiciary. Israel is one of the great success stories of
the demccratic experience in the modern world., In addition, poll
after poll has shown that Americans have felt a special affinity for
Israel since its birth as a nation in 1948, That support has also
been reflected in Congress which has been consistent in its moral,

economic and military support for Israel throughout the years.

Israel is, additionaily, a country of considerable strategic
importance to the U.S. and the West. Its critical location at the
anchor of the Mediterranean basin and in the heart of the Middle East,
the fighting strEngth of its armed forces, and its commitment to
prevent the Soviet Union and Sovjet-allied forces from becoming the
dominant powers in the region, nale Israel a strategic ally of great
value in this critical part of the world. A strong Israel is in

America's best interests.

But Israel's strength and free institutions depend 2s much on the
health of their economic foundations as they do on their military,

These economic foundations are, as you well know, under great stress.

Israel is staggering unde: the burden of finan.ing 1ts defense,
trying to maintain a military baiance vis-a-vis a coal-cion of

adversaries who have almost as many aircraft and tanks as NATO. Since
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1973, several of the Arab League states have enjoyed an enormous
infusion of wealth generated by inflated oil prices, and they have
devoted a great share of this to amassing arms against Israel. Israel
is forced to devote over a third of its resources to defense - compared
to 6% in the U.S. and 1% in Japan. As a result, Israel's debt burden
reached $28 billion in 1983 - more than its entire GNP, Israel is

also currently struggling against a spiral of high inflation which
could reach 400% based on the past few months. Over the long term,
moving toward a more open trading system should help Israel in its

battle against both of those problems.

One unique factor that imposes a great strain on the Israeli
economy is the refusal of its neighbors to engage i1n normal trade.
Beyond denying their own markets, the Arabs have employed the econom:c
boycott and petro-pressures to close many Third World markets to the
Jewish state. As a result, Israel, which is .:pendent on imports and
exports, has been forced to concentrate largely on the markets which
remain open in Europe and North America. The Common Market countries
and the United States are the lifelines of Israel's economic existence,
and thus fluctuations 1n the impor: duties and policies of these

markets reverberate throughout the Israeli economy.

In a country where almost 50 perce.t >f the gross national product
is exported, where imports are equivalent to over 60 percent of GNP,
and where there 1s a scarcity of land an< natural resources, it makes
good economic sense to throw down the trade barriers and let the markets

function freely, rathe- tha. go down the well-trodden path of protectionism.
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A Free Trade Area with the United States would greatly help
in this regard by providing a stable and dependable market for Israel's
exports, free from the uncertainties of the present Genecralized
System of Preferences (GSP). (Hopefully, despite its uncertainties,
the GSP will be renewed this year and Israel can ccatinue to benefit

from it until the FTA is fully implemented.)

Furthermore, a Free Trade Area that provides for the elimination
of tariff and non-tariff barriers on a broad array of goods and services
will, i1n the medium and long-term, increase the flow of trade and
investment in a way that will strengthen the economies of both
nations. It is important to remember that, unlike GSP or the CBI,

this would be a wholly reciprocal arrangement.

The mutual elimination of tariffs between the European Community
and Israel, scheduled to go into full effect by 1989, makes it imperative
for the U.S. to enter into a similar kind of agreement as soon as
possible, to avoid a continuing U.S. loss of marke: share in Israel,

For the past few years, the U.S. has maintained a fairly consistent
surplus in merchandise trade with Israel on the magnitude of $400 to

$600 million per year. Last year, the U.S. exported a record $1.7
billion to Israel in civiljan goods alone, making Israel one of the three
largest markets for American products in the Middle East. However,

U.S. companies could lose cens of millions of dollars in Israeli sales

if the final stages of the European-Israel free trade arrangement are
implemented without a corresponding agreement between the United States
and Israel. Already, according to the Manufacturers Association of
Israel, the EC's share of the Israeli imports has been gradually

increasing from 33.7 percent in 1909, to 40.9 percent in the first
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three quarters of 1983. In contrast, the U.S. share dropped to

18.9 percent, from 19.3 percent in 1980 and 20.2 percent in 1979. That
share of an $8 billion market will probably drop further--unless
similar arrangements are made with the United States--as duties are
completely eliminated on EC-nanufactured products entering Israel by

1989,

The U.S. government has already received numerous complaints
from firms that a wide variety of American products are being
disadvantaged by the EC-Israeli agreement, among them: fiberglass
products, slide fasteners and parts, wire of various substances, culture
medium, food additives, compactors, X-ray equipment, film and
graphics arts processors, computer tapes and discs, and cellophane. With
a U.S.-Israel FTA in place, however, the Israeli-European agreement could
be turned to our advantage since American firms could then use U.S.
components shipped duty-free from the United States to Israel, incorporate
them into products manufactured in Israel, and then sell them duty-
free to the large European market. Over 150 U.S. corporations currently
have established subsidiaries or branches in Israel, and interest

in Israeli companies as joint venture partners 1i$s growing.

Increasing American exports to friendly trading partners like
Istael offers positive economic benefits for the U.S. economy, such
as stimulating growth and production in a non-inflationary environment
and creating new jobs. One billion dollars worth of exports creates

about 25,000 American jobs, according to U.S. government estimates.

The U.S. is bound to benefit greatl, from an FTA, since currentl)
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40 to 45 percent of our exports face Israeli tariffe (in contrast,

10 percent of Israeli products face U.S. duties). If Israeli tariffs
were eliminated under an FTA, U.S. exports would probably increase

in the areas of electrical and electronic equipment; processed grain
and other processed food products; office machinery and computers/
data processing equipment; power generating machinery and equipment;
tobacco products; paper products; telecommunications and

transport equipment; and a wide variety of consumer goods., Addressing
non-tariff barriers in the FTA--including those in the services and
investment area--should stimulate an increasc in U.S. service exports
to Israel as well. Israel imported 56.b111ion worth of services in

1982, a sector in which the U.S. is competitive worldwide.

In addition, increasing Israeli exports will be beneficial not
only to Israel but to the U.S. as well, since Israel will use some of
the foreign exchange ea~ned to purchase more final products and product
inputs from the U.S., its number one trading partner. Earning foreign
exchange from increased exports will alsc help Israel to service its
debt, a large portion of which is oved to the United States. In
addition, Israel offers some new advanced technologies in such specialized
fields as fiber optics, robotics, irrigation, and solar cnergy which
could greatly benefit Americans in an env.ronment of incveased

economic cooperation.

While the U.S. has much to gain from an FTA 1in terms of increased
exports and stimulation of joint venture opportunities with a nation
rich in technological know-how, Israel is so small that there is little

risk of the American market becoming swamped by Israeli imports. Israel
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is a small nation of four million people, its export potential limited
by a restricted supply of labor and a shortage of natural resources.
Israel's total exports to the U.S. are at most one half of one percent
of total imports coming into the United States. Even if Israel could,
as Israeli Frime Minister Shamir predicted, increase exports to the
U.S. by as much as 30 percent under an FTA, exports to the U.S. would
still be less than $2 billion per annum, or $1.7 billion using 1983
figures as a base,

There has been opposition expressed by some American agriculture
groups to the FTA, but such concern must be viewed in pcrspective.
In agriculture, Israeli capacity to increase its production is limited
by a lack of water as well as land. OJerall, the U.S. has a tremendous
comparative advantage in agriculture, as evidenced by the balance of
trade statistics. In 1983, for example, which was a bad year in
many respects for U.S. agricultural exports due to the overvalued dollar,
the U.S. exported $§306 million worth of farm products to Israel, while
importing only $51 million worth--a six-fold surplus, according to
U. S. Agriculture Department statistics. Morover, most of Israel's food
exports go to Europe which is the logical market for Israeli products,
particularly for p snable commodities. According to the Bank of
Israel's 1982 Annual Report, in the 1980 to 1981 period, only 0.9 percent
of Israel's agricultural exports went to the U.S., while almost 90

percent went to European markets.

General concern has also been expressed about the entry of cheap
foreign goods into the U.S. that are manufacturad in countries where
the cost of production is low. But this concern is not appropriate
in the case of Israel. Although on average an American worker

receives about twice the salary level of his Israeli counterpart in
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the manufacturing sector, Israeli manufacturers do not necessarily
enjoy a cost advantage compared to American producers. According

to the Manufacturers Association of Israel, U.S. productivity is far
higher than Israel's--about two to three times as high, In addition,
the Israeli manufacturer pays far greater costs for each employee's
income¢ tax and social security, plus the cost of hiring extra labor
to compensate for army reserves call-ups., The Israeli manufacturer
also faces extremely high interest rates, and higher costs for energy
and natural resources compared to the American producer counterpart.
Therefore, in traditionally import sensitive sectors of the U.S.
economy such as textiles and footwear, the U.S. balance of trade

with Israel has regularly favored the United States.

We know that other sectors of U.S. industry and agriculture have
advocated that they be excluded from any legislation authorizing an
agreement that is signed with Israel. But, if numerous exceptions are
included, our negotiators would not be able to conduct a broad-
strategy of trading advantages over the negotiating table. Also,
from the Israeli perspective, since so many of their goods (90%)
already receive duty-free treatment, it would hardly be to their
advantage to conclude an agreement riddled with more exceptions than
they live with under current arrangements. From an international
perspective, it is also important that "substantially all trade" be
covered in order to conform with the rules of the General Agreement
on Tariffs and Trade (GATT). Otherwise, both countries would
leave themselves vulnerable to other nations charging that the arrange-
ments contravene the GATT and the threat of trade retaliation. The
best way to deal with the threat of possible surges and material injury

to U.S. industry is to utilize U.S. trade laws if needed, ¢n a case-



by-case basis.

Negotiating a U.S.-Israel FTA would not in any way be a diminishment
of either country's commitment to the General Agreement on Tariffs and
Trade and the multilateral approach to trade issues. An FTA is
a perfectly legitimate trade-liberalizing mechanism which is recognized
by the GATT specifically in one of its articles. A reciprocal elimination
of trade barriers is a longstanding goal of U.S. trade policy which

would be strengthened by the realization of such an agreement.

In conclusion, establishment of a Free Trade Area 1s a step
the United States can take to help Israel while helping the U.S.
Both countries will reap benefits from the arrangement. It will
be good for the American economy, strengthen a vital ally in the
Middle East, and reaffirm the bonds between ourselves and a fellow

democracy.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to testify and for
the interest you and other members of the Subcommittee have expressed

in the issue.
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Questions and Answers Regarding the Proposed
Free Trade Area Between the United States and Israel

1. GENERAL

1. QUESTION: What is a Free Trade Area (FTA)?

ANSWER: An FTA is an agreement between two ¢r more
tzading partners, whereby "the duties and other restrictive
regulationg of commerce are eliminated on substantially all the
trade” between them, according to the General Agreement on
Tariffs and Trade (GATT). UIsrael currently has an FTA with the
turopean Community (EC).

2. QUESTION: What is the role of Congress in implementing
an FTA?

ANSWER: Since the Constitution vests in congress the
power to "Tay and collect . . . duties,” Congress rust delegate
authority to the President to enable him to.coaclude an FTA
agreement with Israel. e e

3. QUESTION: Will the U.S. be deviating from its
commitment to multilateral trading, as
expressed in the Multilateral Trade
Negotiations (MTN) and the GATT., and from
most favored nation (MFN) principles, if it
enters into an FTA?

ANSWER: Article XXIV of the GATT specifically
sanctions SuUcn free trade arrangements when they cover .
sybstantially all trade. Therefore, the FTA, unlike the one-way
Caribbean Basin Initiative, is expressly permitted under
multilateral commjitments. But in order to keep the agreement
GATT-legal, the FTA must cover substantially all trade--without
numerous exceptions or exclusions of various products.

4. UESTION: At a time ot.grcwiﬁqlu,$..géido deficits, is
t:e additional reduction of tariffs a good
{dea?

ANSWER: The U.S. historically has had a trade
surplus with Israel. 1In 1983, the U.S. had a surplus in gocds of
over S400 million, excluding U.S. military exports. With the
furopean Community, where Israel already has an FTA, Israel had a
trade deficit of $900 million in 1981 and S1.2 billion in 1982.

36-904 O—84——5
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Istacl's economy is 80 small relative to the U.S. that thcre
is little danger of the U.S. being deluged with Israeli
imports. 1Israel's total GNP in 1983 was about half of IBM'S
gross sales. It is also important to remember that this will
allow U.S. exporters a competitive position.in the $8 billion
Israeli market, particularly after the EC-Israeli PTA is fully
implemented in 1989

S. UESTION: What assurances are there that third
countries will not be able to ship their
products to Israel in order to get those
products into the U.S. duty-free via the
FTA?

ANSWER: The danger of market disruption from pass-
through shipments will be avoided by establishing Rules of Origin
such as those used for the Generalized System of Preferences
(GSP) or the Caribbean Basin Initiative (CBI). For example, the
CB1 specifically requires substantial transformation of the
product, not mere dilution or combining operations. A similar
provision is contained in the Israel/EC Fres Trade Arrangement,
and there have buern virtually no complaints against Israel about
a violation of these :rules.

6. UESTION: 1If the U.S. signs an FTA with Israel, will
this set a preccdent for a quick succession
of many bilateral agreements negotiated with
other countries?

ANSWER: This is an unlikely scenario because 1) it
would not be In the U.S, economic interest to have an FTA with
various countries such as those that have a trade surplus with
the U.S. or that have cheap labor markets, and 2) few countries
would be as willing as is Israel to eliminate their protective
tari%fs and other trade barriers in a truly reciprocal fashion.
Tor example, the U.S. government offered to discuss with Egypet,
a;fwell as lIsrael, an FTA, but Egypt was not interested in the
offer.



61

'11. BENEPITS TO THE UNITED STATES .

P . « Y iiee

1. UESTION: Can there be an advantage to U.S.
manufacturers under an FTA where the Israeli
local market is less than four million
people?

ANSWER: Israel is the second (or at times the third)
largest importer of U.S. products in the Middle East, with $1.5
to $1.8 billion of its total $8 billion non-military imports
coming from the U.S. For manufacturers with an i{nterest in the
Israeli market, the formation of an FTA would improve their
competitive position. At the present time, about 40-45% of
American exported products face duties in Israel, compared to 108
of Israel's exports facing duties in the U.S. today. A
substantial number of U.S products would be in a good position to
increase their sales to Israel, once the FTA is in effect ané
tariffs are eliminaced.

Moreover, the EC and Israel have an FTA. Once that
agreement is fully implemented, U.S. exporters will be at a
disadvantage in Israel‘'s mackets in the absence of their own FTA.

Already, according to the Manufacturer's Association of
Israel, the EC's share of Israel's imports has been increasing--
fzom 33.7% in 1980 to 40.9% in the first three quarters of
1983. IXn contrast, the U.S. share dropped to 18.9% i{n 1983, from
19.3% in 1980 and 20.2% in 1979.

2. QUESTION: What is the potential of the Israeli market
to absorb U.S. goods and services?

ANSWER: The Israeli import market amounted to $8.1
billion dollars worth of goods and $6 billion worth of services
in 1982. That $8.) billion market consisted of consumer goods
{$332 millien), production inputs ($6 billion), and capital goods
($1.3 billion). This market has the potential to grow. Because
Israel requires imported inputs to produce many finished
products, the market for imported products will expand as Israel
exports more finished products.

As the FTA is phased in, many U.S. products will also be
substituted for European preducts currently enjoying more
favorable import duties.
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3. UESTION: Can Israel cut back on imports as part of
its present economic policies and at the
same time provide for expanded imports from
the U.S. under the FTA?

ANSWER: The policies being implemented in Israel are
aimed at reducing the disposable income of the average citizen,
and thus lessening consumption. This may cause some reduction in
sales of consumer goods, but certainly not in areas that involve
investments in export industries and economic growth. Por
example, U.S. components used in export products would be in high
demand. Products, whather entering under a U.S. or European Free
Trade Area with Israel, would enjoy the same competitive
opportunities as Israeli products.

4, ° QUESTION: Can U.S. manufacturers get an edge on
European manufacturers if there i{s an FTA
between lsrael and the United States?

ANSWER: In 1989, Israel's free trade agreement with
the EC will be Zully implemented and all products included will
enter Israel from the EC duty~free. This means that at that
time, {f there is no FTA with the U.S, American products will"
2123 an averaqe duty of 10.5% as compared to a *"0" duty on EC
products.

S. QUESTION: What are some of the U.S. industries that
would benefit from the proposed FTA between
Israel and the United States?

ANSWERS The following are 3 sampling of U.S.
industries that would likely benefit from an FTA: electrical and
electronic equipment; processed grain and other processed food
products; office machinery and computers; data processing
equipment; tobacco products; textiles and paper products: power
generating and other machinery and equipment: telecommunication
and transport equipment; and a wide variety of consumer goods,
ineluding home appliances.

Services, such as banking, insurance, credit institutions,
-gatltind information services, tourism and franchises, would also
enefit.

6. UESTION: What other sectors in America will benefit
economically from an FTA besides U.S.
exporters and importers?

ANSWER : U.S. consumers--companies which use imported
. components and sell imported merchandise, as well as individual
shoppers--would benefit from being able to purchase high quality
goods from Israel without paying the hidden tax of tariffs.
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...........

Also, when the’ U.S.-‘incressz« its exports, as is likely  *°

under an FTA, new jobs fou the American labor force are
created. One billion dollars worth of exports creates about
25,000 American jobs according to U.S. government estimates.



III. BENEFITS TO ISRAEL

.

1. QUESTION: If 90-95% of the value of Israel's products

being sold in the U.S. are already coming
into the U.S. duty-free under multilateral
programs, such as %“ae GSP, or MPN
provisions, why i14 it important to Israzl to
have an FTA with the C.S5.?

ANSWER The FTA is important to Israel despite the
existence Of the GSP program for the following reascas:

b.

The future of the GSP is uncertain--the GSP
legislation {s due to expire in January 1985 and
there is no certainty that it will be extended at
all, or, if extended, whether its terms would be
as favorable to Israel as under current
legislation.

The GSP is a progcam not specific to Israel, but
shared with 140 other developing countries. This
means that Israel could be affected by a change in
GSP legislation or policy due to problems that the
0.S. has with other countries. An FTA would be
specific to Israel,

The competitivo-need limits of the GSP make Israel
dependent on other couatries' actions. For
exaxple, wher Iran stopped exporting licorice
after the turzoil creatad by the overthrow of the
Shah, lsracl's =uare of the U.S. licorice import
market grew to over 50%. As a condequence, Iszrael
lost GSP benefity for licorice--even thougn
Israel's exports aid not increase absolutely.

The GSP program has some inherent disadvantages:
there are possibilities of exclusions from the
program, sither of specific items or of countries,
once certain conditions are reached. These are
obvious impudiments to progress for certain
industries that could be "punished" for passing a
certain threshuld of development and success.

The GSP covers ouly certain products. The FTA is
intended to be az comprehengive as possible and to
include all products as well as services,
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2. UESTION: 1Is it important for Israel to have the GSP
: 1£ there is to be an FTA?

ANSWER: The GSP is still important to Israel for the
s!=sle reason thit the FTA is only at the discussion phase. No
one knows when {: will come into effect, on what terms, and
whether it will include all products. .

D 1 R |

In addition, it is l.kely that under the FTA, duties will be
staged down over a period of years. lIsraeli exporters will need
the GSP during the staci-down period. ’ . ) . C

3. UESTION: Why does Israel want an PFTA with the U.5.?

ANSWER: The United States is still Israel's single
largest trading partner in terms of bilateral trade, and the two
nations share many of the.same political and strategic
objectives. Considering that many neighboring countries'
markets, a.d some Third World countries as well, are closed to
trade with Israel because of economic boycotts, establishing
strong and stable commercial ties with friendly nations :°  the
U.S. is vital for Ilsrael.

4. QUESTION: What Israwii products do not currently enter
che U.S. duty=-free and what impact would an
FTA have in those sectors?

ANSWER: Certain agricultural products; textile yarns
and fabries; apparel: pharmaceuticals and chemicals: basic meesi
products; and electronic components, not now duty-free, could
receive duty-free treatment under the FTA.

The impact of duty-f-ee treatment for these products on U.S,
industries will be minim. Israel does not have the capacity to
expor: large guantities o: ese products. Moreover, lsrael's
products are not inexpensive, Finally, the FTA will include a
safeguards provision to protect any industry adversely affected
should there be a surge of exports of a particular product.



Iv. LABOR

“l, QUESTION: How do the labor rates paid in Israel
compare to those paid in the Unjited States
and other countries? Vould an FTA with
Israel cause a surge uf labor-intensive
imports?

ANSWER: Isvael is not a low wage country and has &
strong and powerful labor union, claiming some 50% of Israel's
labor force. (In contrast, only 15-20 percent of the U.S. labor
force belongs to a union.) Israel has no ability to flood U.S.
markets and/or to injure the U.S. labor market. Israel's total
exports to the U.S. are only about 0.5% of total impores into the

U.s.

Wages in Israel are substantially higher than in countries
commonly considered to be low-wage countries and are comparable
to some European countries. Acgording to a 1982 comparison made
by the Unian Bank of Switzerland, an electrical engineer in Tel
Aviv earned slightly more than his counterparts in 0slo and
Paris. U.S. Department of Labor estimates show that, in 1982,
the average (manufacturing) hourly wage in Iirael was $4.67, as
compared to $1.97 in Mexico, $2.43 in Brazil, $1.57 in Taiwan,
and $1.22 in Korea. This does not mean that Israel's wages are
equivalent to those in the U.S. That would be impossible--U.S.
wages are the highest in the world on average. RAs of 1982, the
U.S. average was $11.79,

When comparing wages, however, one alsc has to consider the
problem of inflation in Israel: When the value of the dollar in
Israseli currency is higher, wages appear lower in dollar terms.
In sddition, U.S. productivity is far higher than Israel's--about
two to three times as high, according to the Manufacturer's
Association of Israel. The Israeli manufacturer must also pay
far greater costs for each employee's income tax and social
security, plus the cost of hiring extra lanor to compensate for
army reserve calls.
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1. QUESTION: What is tsrioi's‘tiaae.b;lknce in
agriculture products? . . .. .

ANSWER: ' Statements have been made that U.S. has a
neyative balance of trade in agriculture with lsrael. These
statements are {ncorrect. Although the American Farm Bureau
Fedezation corrected this mistaken assertion for the record in
the Senate Pinance Committee hearing, AFBF's incorrect testimony
is still being circulated,

According to USDA estimates, in 1983, the U.S. exported six
times what it imported from Israel--$306 million worth of farm
products were exported to Israel, while imports amounted to only
$51 million worth. Moreover, because of a limited amount of
water and land, Israel is severely limited in its ability to
increase its agricultural production.

2. gusér:oux Does lsrasel subsidize its agricultural
products?

ANSWER: In the agricultural sector, most countries
subsidize Produdtion, including the U.S. The only case whers the
U.S. goverament imposed countervailing duties on an Israeli
agricultural product was on cut roses. The impact in the U.S. of
roses from Israel is minimal, however. 1In 1983, Israel's imporcts
to the U.S. accounted for only 0.7%¢ of total U.S. consumption anc
only 0.9% of U.S. production. Moreover, the International Trade
Commiggion, in a 1980 Escape Clause decision, found that the U.S.
rose industry was not seriously injured by imports from all
sources, including Israel. Since that f£inding, lsrael's imports
of roses into the United States have declined.

According to a study conducted by Leon Garovan of the
University of California at Davis, Israel no longer subsidizes
processed tomatoes.

The Israeli government has expressed its willingness to
discuss reduction of subasidies as part of the PTA negotiaticuns.
13; ncqo;iations provide a framework in which these issues cun be
addressed.

3. QUESTION: 1Is Israel a major exporter of some of
agriculture's most sensitive products:
citrus, flowers, avocados, tomato products?

ANSWER: The amount of these so-called sengitive
products shipped to the U.S. is relatively small.

It makes greater sense for lIsrael to ship perishable
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agricultural commodities to a nearby market like Rurope, where
shipping costs are less. Because of high shipping costs to the
U.S. market, Israel is at a competitive disadvantage compared to
countries such as Mexico, Brazil and the CB! countries, which are
in close proximity to the U.S.

According to the Bank of Israel's Annual Report 1982, in
1980-1981, only 0.9 percent of Israel‘'s agricultural exports went
to the U.S., vhile almost 90 percent went to European markets.

According to the Israel's Citrus Marketing Board, last year,
Israsel shipped 38.5 million crates of citrus, with only 200,000
of those crates g9oing to the U.S. and Canada; the Board predicts
shipments will not increase much this year. Furthermore, 96% of
Israel's grapefruit and orange juice exports in 1983 went to the
European Community. Recently, Israel cut citrus cultivation by
10 percent.

Israel is not even exporting avocados due to stringent U.S.
agriculture inspection standards. In addition, Israel does not
even export some of its GSP-eligible agricultur:l products -- for
example, fresh eggplant, garlic, and pearl onions last year.

The State of California produces 6§ million tons of tomatoes
for processing versus Israel's 300,000 metric tons. (1 metric
ton = 2,204.6 pounds), Israel's production of tomato products
has almost doubled in the last few years, reaching 300,000 metric
tons. This is nearly full capacity, which {s estimated to be
around 350,000 metric tons per annum. Growth beyond that level
is limited by high financing costs, lack of water, and
competition with two other cash crops, cotton and ground nuts.
The profirability of the latter two products is quite favorable.

The main reason for lsrael's increase in exports to the U.S.
in the last few years was a decline in U.S. production of tomato
products due to bad weather cond:tions.

The International Trade Commissicn :: investigat:ng ané will
report to the %resident 1f thers are =ny sectors, including
agriculture, ir the U.S. which could be adversely affected by the
STA.

4. QUESTICNH: Civen Israel's small size, how would U.S.
carvers benefit from an FTA?

ANSWER: Because the Israeli market is relatively
smasl. it aIs0 means that on the export side {t is not capable of
tioccding the U.S. market. On the U.S. export side, Israel s a
100d market for U.S. wheat, feedgrains and soybeans, and,
according to Secretary of Agriculture Block, has the votential of
being even a bigger market. With an FTR, it is likely Israel
would buy more processed, consumer-ready food as well.
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Israel, with limited resources and land, over half
of which is desert and the whole of which is only about the size
of Massachusetts, could never become a large-scale mass agricultural
producer like the U.S. In agriculture, the U.S. definitely has the
comparative advantage, and lsrael cannot be economically self-
sufficient in such basic commodities as grains, soybeans and oil, all
of which the U.S. supplies in large amounts. With an FTA, Israel
will likely buy more U.S. processed foods and agricultural machinery
as well.

In 1983, the U.S. exported $13.8 million worth of
tractors and $9.3 million in agriculture and dairy machinery to
Israel. The FTA would also stimulate Israel's sharing with the U.S,
its advanced agriculture and irrigation technology in joint venture
opportunities, both in Israel and the U.S., as well as in the Third
World.

A. AGRICULTURE: Tomatoes

1. QUESTION: Can Israel greatly increase its tomato exports to
the U.S. under an FTA?

ANSWER: Israel's tomato acreage has fluctuated up and down
in recent years, in reaction largely to the success of the U.S. crop:
the year after a diminished crop in the U.S. Israel's acreage increased
and the year after a large U.S, crop Israel's acreage decreased. This
suggests that Israel complements U.S. production rather than crowding
it out,

In 1984, it is expected that the U.S. will produce
about 7 million metric tons of tomatoes for processing, whereas last
year the U.S. produced only about 6 million--vs., Israel's total
production of only 300,000 metric tons, or 5 percent of U.S. production.
Obviously, Israel cannot export all of that amount--it must use some
of it for domestic consumption as well as exporting to other countries
such as Europe, It also cannot significantly increase that production
because of limitations of land and water.

In 1983, Israeli processed tomatoes accounted for
22% of U.S. imports of processed tomatoes (compared to 25% supplied
by Mexico, 24% by Italy and 20% by Spain).

In 1983, Israeli tomatoes accounted for only 7.4%
of all U.S, tomato imports (including both processed and fresh
tomatoes; processed imports being only 33.6% of total imports).

. Many processing facilities are used for both citrus
canning and tomato processing. But because these are seasonal and
complementary, constraints on increasing citrus production means that
tomato production cannot be greatly increased. Otherwise, the factory
will stand idle for half of the year., And citrus production faces
declining profitability.

. In addition, Israel specializes in tomato products with
which no big processors in the U.S. would bother, For example, Israel
makes diced tomatoes to be used in very high quality sauces, or a
special kind of pizza sauce--or a sauce with some extra ingredient
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such as additional 0il. This would be too expensive for large U.S.
companies,

Israel sells tresh agricultural produce in the
U.S. only when there is a shortage in the U.S., Israel is so distant
from the U.S. and the transporticion costs are too high to make it
economical. The U.S. is no. 1 good alternative market to the EC,
which is close and whose growing seasons are complementary with Israel's.
California and Florida have the same growing seasons as Israel. To give
an example, the cost of U.S.-grown tomatoes 1is 69¢ a lb. in the store.
Israeli transportation costs are almost that much: about 50¢ per
1b. if shipped by air. So Israeli growers would have to sell at a
higher price just to survive, and they lack the economies of scale
to sell at a low price,

If they ship the products, it would take three
weeks which is too loag for fresh produce. So even with a tariff
cut, Israel cannot sell much fresh produce in the U.S.

B. AGRICULTURE: Citrus

1., QUESTION: Would Israel greatly increase its citrus exports
to the U,S. with duty-free treatment?

ANSWER: Israel's overall citrus exports actually dropped
23.8% (60 million dollavs) in 1982,

Bank of Israel Annual Report 1982

Decreases in citrus exports:

1979/80 - 5%
1980/81 - 4%
1981/82 - 6%

Israel's Statistical Abstract 1983
Exports of citrus worldwide in thousands of tons:

1978/79 - 964.6
1979/80 - 854.7
1980/81 - 821.0
1981/82 - 760.7

Using U.S. Department of Commerce statistics,
imports of Israeli citrus juice as a proportion of U.S. consumption
as recent as 1982 were virtually nil. Thus, even if imports from
Israel were modestly or even significantly to increase with tariff
reductions, this would still not make a dent in the U.S. market and,
therefore, post no serious tureat to domestic producers.

. Costs in Israel for citrus cultivation and for
citrus packing and transport increased more than 5-fold in 1978-1981.

Meanwhile, area of fruit-bearing age citrus under
cultivation and export per acre steadily declined in 1978-1981,



1

*Jerusalem Post, March 5, 1984:

“The number of citrus orchards that will
have to be chopped down this year will
double to 60,000 dunams (about 15,000 acres)
or more from last year's 30,000 (dunams).”

NOTE: Such developments cannot be reversed
to increase production even if U.S.
tariffs drop to "0".

*Benjamin Rubin paper "The Quiet Revolution in
Israel's Economy'":

"(In 1983) 150,000 tons of citrus fruit will

be destroyed as the high costs of land and
water, combined with the competition of Spain,
Greece, Morocco and Algeria, make extensive
agriculture in Israel increasingly unprofitable.

*Washington Post, May 8, 1984 (AP):

*Demand for orange juice is running ahead of
projections, and it may be in short supply

and cost morco this fall, according to citrus
industry analysts."

"For the first time since 1977,...there may

not be enough juice to meet worldwide demand."
"Last year (Brazil) had a bad crop because of
poor weather and tightening of farm credit by
Brazilian government."

Most of Israel's citrus fruits are exported to
Europe. Shipping to the U.S. is very expensive, the goods are
perishable, and U.S. agricultural/health inspection rules are very
strict and variable by state,

_Europe, on the other hand, is very close, there are
establisbed marketing channels and inspection systems, and its
climate is more complementary with respect to Israel's.

Last year, Israel shipped 38.5 million crates of
citrus--only 200,000 of those crates went to the U.S. and Canada;
Israel’s Citrus Marketing Board also predicts shipments will not
increase much this year.

Leon Garoyan of Univ. of California writes:

"Since 1979, the acreage of citrus grown in
Israel is declining because returns are low
relative to other crops. Water costs are
high and rising in Israel while production
has expanded in other countries. The Israelis
believe citrus acreage will continue to decline
in Israel."

From an interview with Yael Arzi, Food Director,
Israel Export Institute: *

Brazil and Mexico are the real threats to the
world in citrus production, not Israel. In
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just the last few years Mexico planted
25 million citrus trees.

Seventy to eighty percent of Israel's citrus
exports go to Europs and will not be diverted

to the U.S. For the European market, Israel's
seasons complement Europe's and Israel profits
in supplying citrus to Europe in Europe's
off-season, whereas Israel and Florida and
Southern California have the same growing
seasons, Hence, Israel, even with tariff
reductions, couldn't compete with U.S. producers
on a large scale.

Is Israel reducing its citrus acreage, but replacing
all its cut citrus with tomatoes for processing, thus
further threatening the U.S. tomato-processing
industry?

This is jumping to false conclusions. Israeli

farmers are replacing their reduced citrus acreage with a variety of
more profitable crops such as soft-peel fruit [peaches, apricots, etc.]
and field crops, like corn,

3. QUESTION:
ANSWER:

Does Israel subsidize its citrus production?

Even the California League of Food Processors

wrote in a letter of 2/84:

"We have no information to indicate
that Israel is subsidizing its
production, processing or export
of any fruit or vegetable product.”

Bank of Israel Annual Report 1982

Israel's agricultural output subsidies--rate of subsidy
as a percentage of producer prices for all crops:

1978/79 - 1%
1979/80 - 0%
1980/81 - 0%
1981/82 - 1%

In addition, American subsidization of agriculture

through price supports, special lending schemes for growers, and a
variety of other aid amounting to billions of dollars annually should

be kept in mind.

4. QUESTION:

ANSWER:

Under an FTA, will there be increased Brazilian
transshipment through Israel to the United States?

Before Brazil could transship through Israel,

duty (14-T6¥) would first have to be paid on the product entering
Israel. Combined with the added transportation costs, this would be
a costly and unprofitable endeavor.

known commodity.

The amount of citrus production in Israel is a
Any sudden increase in Israeli citrus juice production

or in exports could be easily detected.

The danger of market disruption from pass-through



13

shignents from Brazil can be countered by establishing Rules of Origin
such as those used for GSP or Caribbean Basin Initiative. For example,
CBI reoquires substantial transformation of the product and not merely
dilutivn or combining operations,

Moreover, it is in Israel's best interest not to
let such transshipment of processed citrus »roducts occur. Israel
is equally concerned about transshipment under an FTA through the
U.S. of a number of products, which are potentially far more damaging
to Israel than any possible advantage gained by the citrus industry.

. As indicated, Israel is moving away from citrus
production and current reductions in citrus acreage mean permanent
reductions in Israeli production. Citrus--and especially julce--
production is not a high Israeli priority: other sectors are much
more important for Israel.

S. QUESTION: Even though Israel presently sells the overwhelming
majority of its citrus exports in Europe and
almost none to the U.S., when a major competitor
like Spain joins the EC in the near future, won't
Israel lose its European markets and have to
divert its exports to the U.S.?

ANSWER: The products that have expressed the greatest
concern about this matter are processed--not fresh--citrus products,
namely concentrated orange juice. The hypothesized displacement of
Israel from their EC citrus juice market will not happen to any
significant extent in the foreseeable future, as Spain does not have
a developed processed citrus industry. Therefore, Israeli processed
citrus production for export will continue to supply the European
Community, utilizing Israel's well-established marketing and
distrubution channels and will not pose any significant threat to
the U.S. citrus industry.
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C. AGRICULTURE: Olives

1. QUESTION: Will Isareli imports of olives under an FTA signifi-
cantly harm the U.S. olive industry?

ANSHWER : The case of imported Spanish bottled green olives
is instructive in this regard. U.S. imports of such olives from
Spain amounted to $70 million in 1983, or 95% of such imports and
60% of U.S. consumption of the product.

There has been a countervailing duty on Spanish
green olives for the last decade. The ITC on May 8, 1984, ruled
that the price of bottled green olives from Spain was not "materially"
affecting domestic producers and ordered that the countervailing duty
be ended.

So, if the huge volume of cheap olive imports
from Spain do not "materially'" harm domestic producers, even a modest
increase in olive imports from lsrael under an FTA would pose no
such threat.

Israel has a 16% tariff for imported olives--higher
than the U.S. tariff on olive imports. So an FTA would also mean
concessions on the part of Israel's olive producers, who maintain
much smaller operations and hence are even more vulnerable than U.S.
producers.

Even with the added incentive of reduced tarjiff,
Israel's ability to expand olive production is extremely limited due
to constraints of land and water. Moreover, in order to increase its
olive production, more trees would have to be planted and it would
take considerable time before they would bear fruit.

2. QUESTION: 1Is an FTA a way of trying to get around Israel's
having been rejected for duty reductions on olives
under GSP?

ANSWER: Had Israel won duty-free treatment for olives under
GSP, such tariff rcductions would also have applied to the other
developing countries who produce olives--perhaps posing a threat to
domestic producers, But, under a U,S,-Israel rTA, only Israeli olives--
which accounted for only 1.7% of U.S. consumption in 1982--would get
driy-tree treatment as part of the comprehensive deal--posing little
threat co the domestic olive industry.

3. QUESTION: Will this be only the first of many tariff concessions
on imported olives?

ANSNWER: This fear is unfounded. Other large producers
such s Morocco were probably the cause of rejecting olives for duty-
free GSP treatment and hence are most unlikely to be the subject of
tariff concessions. The very large producers such as Spain, Italy
and Greece are or will all be members of the European Comznity (EC).
Given the EC's highly protectionist trade policies especi.lly regarding
agricultural products--tariff reductions on imported olives from
these producers are not possible at this time or in the foreceeable
futgre and hence are not relevant to deliberations on U.S.-Israel free
trade.
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4. QUESTION: Are there about 35,000 bearing acres oL alives
waiting to be sold'tariff-free in tae U.S.?

ANSWER: This is a false and misleading statement. Of
1srael's 37.2 thousand tons of olive production in 1981/82, 17.2
thousand tons (46+%) went directly for. local consumption, while the
remaining 20,000 tons went to local industry, of which some was then
exported,

D. AGRICULTURE: Dehvdrated Garlic and Onions

1. QUESTION: Could Israeli firms, with a duty-free advantage,
become a large compétitor in the U.S. market in
these sectors?

ANSWER: Israel supplies only a minute portion of U.S.
imports of dried garlic and onion: in 1981, only $13,000 worth of
total imports which averaged $875,000 annually in recent years., Thus,
even if Israel did increase its exports under an FTA, the effect would
be imperceptible. This is especially the case because it is an
expanding market--U.S. consumption of dried garlic and onion is
increasing in recent years, .

It should also be remembered that Israel imports
U.S. dried vegetables--$337,000 worth in 1981, 1In dried garlic alone
(which faces a 16% tariff in Israel) Israel imported $268,000 worth
of U.S. garlic.

2. QUESTION: Does the U.S, consumer reap any benefits from
lower-priced imports as they are used mainly
for industrial use as seasonings for foods?

ANSWER: Food industries are consumers, too! If the food
industries arec able to buy lower priced and possibly better quality
seasonings, then they are benefitting as consumers of the imported
product. Over the long term, this would definitely lower their
purchase costs, and these savings in turn would presumably be passed
on to the final product consumer in the supermarket or restaurant or
institution.

The present U.S. tariff rate of 35 percent is
unjustifiably high and therefore eliminating it should ultimately
affect the price levels for consumers.

E. AGRICULTURE: Roses

1. QUESTION: Would U.S. producers be greatly injured by allowing
Isra=li roses to come in duty-free?

ANSWER: Colombia accounts for the bulk of U,S. imports of
fresh cut roses and other flowers. Israel only accounted for less
than 2 percent of fresh cut roses imports in 1982, and less than half
of one percent of domestic consumption,

JEWELRY
1. QUESTION: How would an FTA affect the domestic jewelry

industry?

36-9f O—84——6
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ANSWER: Since 97 ﬁercent of Israeli jewelry already enters
the U.S. duty-free, establishing an FTA wouid have little, if any
adverse impact.

Italy exports to the U,S. about 5 times as much
jewelry as Israel. In costume jewelry, which is the main line produced
by U.S. manufacturers, Israel, which produces more sophisticated gold
jewelry, is not even among the top 10 exporters to the U.S.

In its 1981 report on precious metal jewelry, the
United States International Trade Commission found that Israel "is
unlikely to increase its U.S, market share significantly" due to
lesser quality of its products, marketing disadvantages and the fact
that "U.S. producers have a technological advantage in the production
of gold-filled jewelry."

The U.S. benefits from exports to Israel as well:
for example, in 1983 the U.S. exported $40 million worth of diamonds
and precious stones to Israel.

2. QUESTION: How developed is Israel's jewelry industry?

ANSWER: There are only 600 jewelers and silversmiths in
Israel that employ a total of about 2,500 persons. Only a few employ
more than 25 people. Jewelry production in Israel is based on high-
wage, highly-skilled labor and new technology, and there is little
danger of flooding the U.S. market with cheap jewelry imports.
According to a survey made in 1980/81, the average wage of an employee
in a jewelry exporting firm is somewhere between $750 to $1,500 per
month. Thus, Israel is not a "cheap labor' country as far as its
jewelry production is concerned, and is constrained by the shortage
of skilled manpower from significantly expanding its exports.

Because Israeli jewelry exports are based on high
wage, highly-skilled labor and on development of new technologies,
there is little danger of flooding the U.S. market with cheap jewelry
imports if tariffs were dropped. According to Israel's Industrial
Development Plan, assuming there is an FTA and that Israel can broaden
its product range, Israel's exports of jewelry will still only increase
at an average annual rate of 7.2 percent in the next 10 years, the
main constraint being the shortage of skilled manpower.

TEXTILES AND APPAREL

1. QUESTION: Would the U.S. textile and apparel industries be
adversely affected by a U.S.-Israel FTA?

ANSWER: It is important to remember that this is an FTA
just with Istrael, whose exports to the U.S. are so insignificant that
they do not even come under any quota arrangement. Even if Israel
were able to double its current textile and apparel exports to the U.S.,
this would still be only a fraction of the U.S.' $8 billion worth of
clothing imports in 1981, Israel's share of U.S. imports of textile
and apparel was 0.2% in 1981 and 0.02% of U.S. consumption (domestic
production plus imports). Almost 90 percent of Israel's apparel
exports are to Western Europe, where Israel has developed its markets
over the last ten years,
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Most of the U.S, trade deficit in apparel comes
from increasing imports from the "Big Four" suppliers: Hong Kong,
Taiwan, Korea and China, countries with cheap labor costs. Israel
exports only higher fashion, higher priced specialty apparel, such
as swimsuits, which are not competing with U.S. mass-produced items,
and where consumer demand is quiie limited.

2. QUESTION: What is our balance of trade with Israel in textiles
and apparel?

ANSWER: In 1982, the U.S. had a $15.8 million surplus with
Israel in textiles and apparel trade, exporting $33.2 million worth
and importing $17.4 million, Because textiles are a major U.S.
export item to Israel, the industry could particularly benefit from
the elimination of Israeli tariffs which currently are about 15-16
percent on many of the man-made fiberc.

The more that Israel exports in apparel, the more
U.S. textiles and yarns Israel will have to buy. Also, as Israel
continues to modernize its clothes industry, it must import almost all
of the machines and computers used in modernization. With an FTA,
Isracl will buy many of the machines from the U.S.; otherwise they
will likely come from Europe.

3. QUESTION: Can countries subject to U,S. import quotas use
the FTA to obtain access to the U,S. market
illegally?

ANSWER: The U.S. and Israel will negotiate the appropriate
safeguards and Rules of Origin to ensure that
quotas are not circumvented.

LEATHER GOODS AND FOOTWFAR

1. QUESTION: How would the domestic footwear industry be affected
by an FTA?

ANSWER: Most footwear made in Israel is sold in the local
market. Worldwide exports, including footwear parts, totalled less
than $5 milljon in 1982, mostly to Europe. Israel's exports of
footwear to the U.S. in 1982 totalled 0.15% of total U.S. imports.

According to Israel's Industrial Development Plan
for 1982-1995, exports will grow at an average rate of 3 percent per
year and will continue to be directed mainly to Europe.

2. QUESTION: What do U.S. exporters have to gain from the
Israeli market?

. ANGWER: Israel imports aimost all of its hide and skin
requirements, Imports of hides, <kins and leather amounted to $18.2
million in 1982, of which 25 pcecent was imported from the U.S.

. Also, in 1983 the U.S. exported $6.2 million worth
of textile and leather-working machinery and parts.
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While exporting only $5 million worth of footwear,
Israel imported ¥20 million worth of shoes in 1982. Most U.S.
footwear exports fauce a 16 percent tariff in Israel, while the EC's
tariff is being phased cut.

3. QUESTION: Isn't there already a precedent for excluding
. footwear and leather products from the CBI und
footwear from GSP?

ANSWER: The CBI and GSP are only one-way tariff cuttiag
arrangements, not offering reciprocal benefits for U.S. exporters.
An FTA will be reciprocal, giving U.S. exporters significant benefits.

4, QUESTION: Will an FTA with Israel hurt the rubber footwear
industry in U.S.?

ANSKER: Korea and Taiwan together supplied 72 percent of
the U.S. imported rubber footwear during the last four years.

Even without tariffs, there is no way that Israel
can compete with those low-wage countries, which have the cheap
tabor to mass produce these kinds of items. According to U.S. Labor
Department statistics, in 1981, in the leather products and footwear
industries (including rubber and plastic footwear), Israeli wages
were three times higher than Korean, and almost twice as high as
Taiwan's.

Israel also cannot compete with the cheap labor
in the People's Republic of China, which is the other major new source
of U.S. rubber footwear imports.

. Israel would also have no special advantage over
U.S. producers in the production of the more expensive, high:
quatity rubber footwear.

BROMINE

1. QUESTION: How can the U.S. bromine industry compete
against Israel's industry?

ANSWER: Currently, three U.!. companies account for
almost aIT U,5. production of bromine and brominated products.
Israeli production, wkich helps account for what little competition
there is it the U.S., still accounts for only about 2-3 percent of
Y.S. consumption. The Israeli producer faces high costs of production
and transportation, and it is these cost factors, rather than import
tariffs, which inhibit the ability of Israel to increase its small
market share in the U.S.

Brominated compounds play a. increasing role
in producing flame retardants, in water ssaitation, and in pharmeceutical
products--ali areas important to American consumers, who could
benefit from increased competi: ‘>a in the industry.

2. QUESTION: Does the domestic bromine industry need protection
from increased imports?

ANSWER: Great Lakes Chemical Corp., the world's leading
producer of bromine and brominated products located in the U.S ,
has enjoyed greater and greater sales rcvenues ev ., year siace 1975,
and prospects look good for the coming years as well.

Although U.S. firms have been affecte« by the EDB
ban, they are finding alternate uses for bromine which are highly
profitable. For example, another major producer of brosine related
products, Ethyl Corp., has reported the expansion of it: production
capacity at Magnolia, Arkansas, for flame retardanc procuction. Further
expansion is planned in 1984; also, Ethyl plans to open new facilities
for bromine based completion fluids,
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Chairman GiBBoNs. Next we have Mr. Greenberg.

STATEMENT OF LEE W. GREENBERG, DIRECTOR OF TRADE
POLICY, NATIONAL OFFICE, AND EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT,
WESTERN REGIUN, AMERICAN-ISRAEL CHAMBER OF COM-
MERCE AND INDUSTRY, INC., ACCOMPANIED BY SIDNEY N.
WEISS, TRADE COUNSEL

Mr. GREENBERG. I am Lee Greenberg, executive vice president of
the American-Israel Chamber of Commerce, Western Region; direc-
tor of trade policy for the national office.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Weiss is to your right.

Mr. GREENBERG. Right. Mr. Weiss is special counsel on trade
matters.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Fine. You may proceed.

Mr. GREENBERG. I have a rather long written testimony. I, too,
ask that it be introduced into the record.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Without objection, it will be placed where
you designate.

Mr. GREENBERG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

For purposes of time, I will go ahead and summarize the major
points of my testimony.

The American-Israel Chamber of Commerce is a U.S. trade asso-
ciation composed of member companies interested in bi-national
trade between the United States ard Israel. The chamber supports
a free trade area between the Unitcd States and Israel.

Such an agreement would benefit both countries and at the same
time recognize the principles of free trade as part of the overriding
democratic values that are at the very foundation of both coun-
tries. )

As far as benefits to the United States, Israel represents an $8
billion import market for goods and an additional $6 billion import
market for services which are also contemplated to be part of the
proposed free trade area.

A free trade area would give the United States general access to
these markets, the $8 and $6 billion, without distortions because of
tariff barriers.

In addition, a free trade area will allow U.S. products to compete
in this market with European products which are the subject of a
free trade area currently in effect between Israel and Europe and
;})vhicgh8 will be totally phased in as to European imports into Israel

y 1989.

Traditionally, Israelis prefer American products, and with com-
petitiveness of American products in the Israeli market, we antici-
pate a great rise of American sales in the Israeli market.

In addition, access by American products into the European
market itself will be less costly and be easier to obtain.

Currently, even under the system as it now exists, the United
States can use Israel to enter its products into the European
Common Market. However, with a free trade area through the use
of industrial cooperation, many of the administrative burdens that
occur in attempting to do that will be removed and raw materials
used to manufacture products for export from Israel to the Europe-
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an economic community will enter Israel witaout duties—raw ma-
terials from the United States, that is.

By entering into a free trade area, we ar.ticipate that Israel will
have additional funds io be used for imports froma the United
States, and I again mention they show a preference for U.S. prod-
ucts; and also to pay back its national delt, much of which is owed
to the United States.

Very importantly, this agreement is reciprocal. 11.S. trade agree-
ments with many countries of the wurld, as this committee of
course is aware of, have been unilater:i by and large. This agree-
ment, unlike the GSP, is reciprocal and offers to American indus-
try a much more equitable way of having a bilateral relationship
between one country and another.

It is a continuation and an enhancement of the 7J.S. commitment
to Israel but at the same time one that is equitable and fair to
American industry.

At the same time, a free trade area may very well have the
effect of stimuiating freer trade in our multilateral arrangements
under GATT. If the bilateral agreement with Israel is to be success-
ful, members of the GATT may be inclined, through the multilater-
al process, to become freer with the trade barriers that now exist
multilaterally.

Most importantly, a free trade area will create an atmosphere
between Israel and the United States for joint ventures. Currently
over 105 U.S. companies, many quite large, have subsidies or joint
ventures with Israel and they use these to gair access to the EEC.
With the free trade area, the atmosphere for these ventures be-
tween Israeli and American companies will become more conducive
and we can anticipate that the United States will therefore capture
a larger share of the European market.

In addition, New World markets that Israel may trade with now
and the United States does not trade with may also open up to U.S.
industry.

Any agreement must be reciprocal and benefit both sides.

I would like to touch on benefits to Israel. It is a small country
which must export in that its domestic market is too small to sup-
port its industry. As we know, it has a high national debt and has
a lack of trading partners in that its immediate neighbors refuse to
trade with her and many countries throughout the world likewise
refuse to trade with her, as Mr. Dine has mentioned.

In addition, it is a non-labor-intensive country and, as a iiatter
of fact, has a shortage of labor and labor is quite expensive com-
pared to most countries. A free trade area would provide certainty,
whereas the current GSP offers Israel no certainty for its manufac-
turers to make rational decisions for future trends.

In adaition, as I mentioned, the free trade area would stimulate
investment i:ato Israel to use the foreign market. This joint coop-
eration between Israeli and United Stat=s industry could be very
beneficial *o the Israeli economy. For Israel and the United States,
New World markets may open up that currently Israel is unable to
trade with but in joint ventures with American companies, with
the products exported by American companies, these markets cur-
rently unavailable to Israel may become open. And with that,
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Israel will be in a better position to service and retire its debt,
much of which is owed to the United States.

In addition, both countries have been very involved with joint de-
velopment of technology and maijor efforts in R&D. This type of an
agreement can facilitate such ventures by both countries.

Both have shown a strong desire and inclination to protect intel-
lectual property rights and therefore there would be no threat to
either country’s intellectual property rights were an agreement
like this to become implemented.

The cooperation would allow the strengths of U.S. companies to
be matched with the strengths of the companies in Israel so that
technology could be shared and the marketing and financial ability
of American companies could be used to the benefit of companies
in the economy of both countries.

Both countries also have an active independent labor movement.
This proposal would not take away jobs from both countries but
rather would increase jobs by increasing the exports of both coun-
tries.

Concerns that jobs would be eliminated are inaccurate when we
examine the fact that according to different statistics, for every $1
billion of exports, between 25,000 and 50,000 jobs would be created.

We certainly anticipate that both the United States and Israel
would be able to increase their exports by virtue of this agreement.

In addition, the concern that Israeli products could flood the U.S.
market is an unwarranted concern. As I mentioned, Israel is a non-
labor-intensive country. As a matter of fact, it has a labor shortage.
As a result, it cannot produce products for mass consumption and
would be unable to flood the U.S. market, and therefore hurt U.S.
employment figures.

Both countries believe in fair treatment of their employment and
this agreement would work hand in hand with that policy.

Both countries also have mutual investment policies which are
very liberal, and both encourage and allow investments by one
country into the other.

I mentioned that over 105 U.S. companies are currently in Israel
and many Israeli companies have subsidiaries and offices in the
United States. The reason for this is companies from both countries
see increased export potential; both countries allow repatriation of
profits and foreign ownership of equity in companies.

Also, the removal of multilateral trade barriers could serve as a
major plus for both were this agreement to be implemented.

It is our position that this agreement would be totally consistent
with the GATT and poses no problems, and other issues of concern
in implementing an agreement such as a free trade area, subsidies,
and other matters can be discussed and are the subject of current
negotiations.

Any agreement such as this free trace area would pose minimal
injury, if any, to U.S. industry.

Currently, as has been mentioned earlier this morning, over 90
perceni of Israel’s products enter the United States duty free. Even
with that staggering figure of 30 percent, right now the balance of
trade between the United States and Israel is heavily a surplus in
favor of the United States. There is no reason to suspect that were
another additional 10 percent of Israel’s products to enter the
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United States duty free, that this balance would reverse. In fact, it
might become more heavily in favor of the United States.

It is very expensive for Israel to increase its industrial size. In-
dustrial growth in Israel is a slow process because of the shortage
of labor, the expensive cost of labor. In addition, Israel bears high
costs in terms of financing construction, importation of energy and
raw materials, taxes, and external problems which we are all
aware of. As a result, Israel’s industry would be hard-pressed tc
show major industrial growth for import into the U.S. market.

As far as specific industrial limitations, most of Israel’s products
have traditionally gone to the EEC. It is there that Israel developed
an intricate marketing system, and it is there that we can antici-
pate that, even with a free trade area with the United States, most
Israeli products will continue to go, because additional transporta-
tion costs would be incurred were they to all of a sudden use the
United States as a primary market.

For Israel, the free trade area simply gives the basis of a rational
decisionmaking policy in that the Uniled State. would be a contin-
ued trading partner for export. But it does not mean the emphasis
on Israeli exports will shift from Europe—the likely importer of Is-
raeli products—to the United States.

To put this entire proposal into perspective, in terms of what
Israel can do in the American market, I would like to mention just
a few items. I come from California, and the county of Orange in
the State of California has a higher gross national product than
the country of Israel. That is a staggering statistic, b... it certainly
lends credibility to the fact that when all things are considered it is
unlikely that Israel can make tremendous inroads into the U.S.
market.

A further statistic, which has great interest, is that IBM sales
are in excess of the entire GNP of Israel. Moreover, in 1981, Exxon
was the largest U.S. corporation on the Fortune 500 list with $108
biilion of sales. That same year, the largest company in Israel, IAI,
Israel Aircraft Industries, grossed $122 million, which would have

laced it about 350th on the list of the Fortune 500 in the United

tates—again, a comparison w hich shows that Israel’s largest com:
pany would be unable to comnpete in terms of taking a largc share
of the U.S. mass market.

Israel, we must remember, is a country of only 4 millicu peorie.
It has tremendous externai problems. And with all of these ‘‘ings
that I mentioned, it is flattering from Israel’s standpoint {0 cee the
concern in this country from industrialists that Israel coula inun-
date this market. But it simply cannot be true.

I have included in my testimony, which has been introduced into
the record, statements from many industrialists, including such
companies as Intel and Data Products, who are active or would like
to be more active in Israel right now. There are many others. And
I might mention that many other statements may have been in-
cluded. However, as this committee may be aware, currently in
Israel the Jerusalem Economic Conference is in session, and “Isra-
tech”, where most Israeli high tech companies are meeting with
global counterparts, is also in session. Most American industrialists
who deal with them are in T<rael and are unable to introduce state-
ments, but I assume they in the near future.



83

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee,
Israel shares with the United States a heritage of democratic tradi-
tions and Judeo-Christian values, and is a member of the family of
free nations. In light of this, the advantages of a free irade area
are numerous. In addition to deepening a vitally important politi-
cal, strategic and commercial relationship, a free trade area will
tend to create new economic opportunities and new jobs in both the
United States and Israel without damaging the interests of the
United States.

Through industrial cooperation, both countries will be able to
bring new R&D and new technologies to the world marketplaces.
Accordingly, we request this distinguished committee to act favor-
ably in its recommendations on legislation and on implementation
of this proposal.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF LEE W. GREENBERG, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT, WESTERN REGION,
AMERICAN-ISRAEL CHAMBER oF COMMERCE AND INDUS.RY, INC.

SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY

The American-Israel Chamber of Commerce is a United States Trade Association
composed of member compani=s interested in bi-national trade between the United
States and Israel. The chamber supports a free trade area betwsen the United
States and Israel. Such an agreement would benefit both countries and at the same
time recognize the principles of free trade as part of the overriding democratic
values that are at the very foundation of both countries.

Specific advantages and considerations for the United States are as follows:

United States products will be sold in [srael on the basis of quality and price,
without distortions due to tariff barriers. United States products will, therefore,
gain equal treatment with products of the European Economic Community in the
Israeli market. Moreover, American products shipped to Israel where they are phys-
ically traunsformed with an added value will be granted duty free entry into the Eu-
ropean Economic Community.

Nothwithstanding these gains, the threat to United States industry would be
minimal. Israel is unlikely to flood the United States market because, unlike many
other countries, it is not a cheap labor enclave.

United States companies can benefit from Israeli technological advances in their
efforts to hold and expand their market share vis-a-vis European competitors.

A Free Trade Area would serve as a more equitable bi-national commercial rela-
tionship than the current Generalized System of Preferencas (GSP) relaticnship
which now exists between the United States and many countries includi*ig Israel.
While GSP provides unilateral benefits to other countries, a Free Trade Area would
provide mutusa] benefits to both the United States and Israel.

Specific advantages and considerations for Israel are as follows:

The Free Trade Area is a step beyond the GSP. Limitations und uncertainties
built into the GSP will be lifted. This will enable Isrzeli manufacturers to make ra-
tional decisions and build a long-term market in the United States. Israel will there-
fore be able to cxport more products to the United States.

United States companies will be inclined to invest in Israel by opening subsidiar-
ies and/or setting up joint ventures with Israeli companies so that, through product
transformation with added value, United States companies can receive duty-free
access to the European Economic Community (EEC) and be more competitive with
European products in the European marketplace.

By increasing her exports, Israel will generate additional funds which may be
gsed to service and retire her national debt, much of which is owed to the United

tates.
| Mutual advantages and considerations for the United States and Israel are as fol-
lows:

Common aspects of the United States and Israeli economies, such as technological
orientation, an interest in defending intellectual property, and a developed 